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Mr Wayne McCrae  
(Executive Chairman) 
 
Wayne McCrae has a 40 year 
career in the Mining Industry, with 
e x p e r i e nc e  i n  d e v e l o p i n g 
underground and open cut mines. 

He has bought 6 mines from exploration to production in 
Australia and Africa, both underground and open cut and 
designed and constructed the plant and mineral 
extraction process at each. 
 
Wayne has been on various Boards of ASX listed 
companies commencing in 1987. He spent 7 years in 
Tanzania as Chairman of Tanzania Diamond Mines, Rift 
Valley Gold Mines and Great Africa Mines, and 
developed the “Block A” underground Tanzanite Mine at 
Merilani, Tanzania, where he was Chairman and MD of 
Ruano Tanzanite Mines. He has been central to the 
development of more than 20 other mineral exploration 
projects.  
 
Wayne was Chairman and MD of Diversified Mineral 
Resources NL (DMR), from 1987 to 1992 and was 
instrumental in the exploration, drilling and discovery of 
the largest zinc mine in the world; the ”Century Zinc 
Mine”, at that time owned by DMR in far NW Queensland. 
Other projects include the exploration, drilling and 
discovery of more than 200 million tonnes of coking coal, 
which is regarded as one of Queensland’s most profitable 
Coal Mines; “Burton Downs”, now owned by Peabody. 
 
Wayne’s experience covers all facets of the mining 
industry from asset acquisition, exploration, metallurgy, 
process design and mining, through to infrastructure, 
logistics and development.  
 
Wayne has taken CuDeco (formerly Australian Mining 
Investments Ltd.), from the second lowest capitalised 
Company on the ASX, to being ranked among the S&P 
Top 200 ASX listed companies.  

Mr Peter Hutchison  
(Executive Director) – MAusIMM, 
MRACI Ch Chem 
 
A process chemist with over 40 
years mineral and chemical 
processing industry experience. 

 
Peter is also the Site Senior Executive responsible for the 
Rocklands site, development of the metallurgical 
programme and concept process, and for the DFS 
including the environmental and other project approvals. 
 
 

 

Mr Paul Keran  
( Independen t Non-execu t ive 
Director) - BAppSc, BE (Chemical), 
Dip BA 
 
A chemical engineer with more than 
30 years experience in the resource 

sector in Australia and internationally. 
 
Previously with MIM Holdings as MIM Group Metallurgical 
Manager and has also completed technical assessment 
and development of the Alumbrera copper project in 
Argentina. 
 
 

 

Mr Gerald Lambert  
( Independen t  Non-executive 
Director) - B Com(Hnrs), ACA, 
MAICD 
 
An experienced Company Director 
with both listed and unlisted entities 

and an experienced Senior Corporate Executive. 
 
Currently a Non-executive director of Boystown. 
 
Previously an executive Director of Villa World Limited 
from 2000 to 2005; he was also the CFO and General 
Manager of Villa World during this period. Mr Lambert 
was a Director and CFO of City Resources Limited. 
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Mr David Taylor  
(Independent Non-executive Director) - BA LLB 
AAICD  
 
Mr Taylor was appointed to the Board in July 2009. Mr Taylor is 
admitted as a Solicitor in the Supreme Court of Queensland and High 
Court of Australia. 

 
He has over four years experience in Civil Litigation having been involved in a diverse range of 
claims. 
 
He holds Bachelor Degrees in Law and Arts from Bond University as well as having studied at the 
University of British Columbia in Canada. He also holds a specialisation in Legal Practice. 
 
 

 

Mr Zhijun Ma  
(Independent Non-executive Director)  
 
Mr Zhijun Ma is a graduate from Engineering Management Tianjin University with a bachelor 
degree. Mr Ma is a specialised professional economist and during his career has been 
involved in a number of major investment projects covering a wide range of areas including 
finance, energy and real estate. 
 

 
 

 

Mr Hongwei Liu  
(Independent Non-executive Director)  
 
Mr Liu is a graduate from Mechanical Design and Manufacturing Dalian Ocean University with a 
bachelor degree, and a master degree of Management from Massey University New Zealand. 
He specialised in professional management and administration and during his career and has 
been involved in a number of major investment projects covering a wide range of areas 

including finance and energy.  
 
Mr Liu is a director of Oceanwide International Resources Investment Co Ltd and is responsible for this 
Company's investments in overseas projects especially within the finance, energy and resource sectors.  
 
My Liu is also currently the Managing Director of Minsheng Investment Management Holdings Co Limited.  
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In a watershed year that saw the granting of Mining 
Leases and Approval of the Plan of Operations for the 
Rocklands Group Copper Project, the Company is 
embracing its transition from Explorer to Miner and in so 
doing, is preparing to join only a handful of junior 
Australian explorers who have managed to steer a major 

project from discovery through to production. 

 

You can count on one hand the number of major projects 
that fall into this category...even less the number of 
projects with multi-decade production potential. One 
could be forgiven therefore for thinking unless you are a 
major mining house, or prepared to significantly dilute 
shareholders positions in favour of the “establishment”, 
you are simply not supposed to make a major discovery 
and take it to production in Australia...but if you do have 
the audacity to do so, then you can expect every hurdle 

imaginable to be thrown at you. 

 

Fair to say I have never been one for the “establishment”, 
which may well have made life a little harder for us at 
times, with little if any genuine support or coverage from 
the wider Australian broking community over the years, 
but now as we start to see the light at the end of the 
tunnel (the theme of this years Annual Report), I ask 
shareholders to reflect on the current health of the 
Company as we move toward production by the end of 

next year. 

 

By keeping a tight rein on expenditure at all times, by 
taking advantage of opportunities when they presented 
(such as expanding activities during the GFC when others 
were running for cover), and by maintaining an 
uncompromising approach to fund raising, we have 
ensured when we go mining we will do so with a relatively 
low number of shares on issue so that shareholders will 

enjoy much healthier dividends when the time comes. 

 

First production at Rocklands will be evidence that in one 
small part of Australia, in the dusty dry and at times 
oppressively hot North-west Queensland, the can-do 

spirit is still alive and well. 

 

The Company’s primary focus now is to get into 

production as fast as possible. 

 

 

Chairman’s Summary 
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Top; evidence of a previous life at Rocklands when the old 
Double Oxide mine was worked by small-time operators. 
 
Middle; impressive sample of native copper ore in wide-
diameter PQ diamond drill core from central Las Minerale.  
 
Above; excavator and dump truck removing material from the 
second blast of the project during construction of the Water 
Diversion Channel. 



At the end of the 2012 financial year the Company is in great shape; 
 

 Just 187m shares on issue 
 

 $125m cash at hand  
 

 No debt! 
 

 Owns 100% of its mining fleet - mostly purchased during the GFC Financial Crisis  
 

 Mining and Infrastructure Corridor Leases granted for 30 years 
 

 Environmental Impact Statement and Plan of Operations approved 
 

 Compensation agreements with the landowner and the Cloncurry Shire Council in place 
 

 Native Title agreements in place 
 

 $30m already paid towards 3mtpa Process Plant 
Major components ordered including ball mill, high-pressure grinding rolls (HPGR), primary and tertiary 
crushing circuits, alljig® gravity jigs and various ancillary components - all currently under construction. 

 

 Rail-load Facility in Cloncurry - access to national markets secured 
Joint memorandum of understanding with Xstrata Copper and Minmetals Group for the joint development of 
the Company’s Multi-user Rail Load-out Facility, significantly reducing CuDeco’s up-front development costs. 

 

 Ship-loading Facility at Port of Townsville - access to international markets secured 
Lease signed with Port of Townsville Limited for 1.506 ha of land at the Port of Townsville, allowing for the 
construction and operation of a bulk materials receipt, storage and export facility. Development Permit received 
from Queensland Department of Environment and Resource Management (DERM) for Ship-loader and Concentrate 
Storage Facility at the Port of Townsville - currently under development. 

 

 Significant resource inventory based on over 340,000m of drilling - discovery costs ~1.5c/lb 
 

30.3mt @ 1.7% CuEq (0.8% CuCoAu cut-off) Measured and Indicated resource 

97.9mt @ 0.96% CuEq (0.4% CuCoAu cut-off) Measured and Indicated resource 

272.9mt @ 0.62% CuEq (0.2% CuCoAu cut-off) Measured, Indicated & Inferred resource 
 

See full table details of the above resources in Competent Person Statement at the end of this report 
 

 Mineralisation commences from surface - low life-of-mine strip ratio (approximately 3.16 to 1) 
High-grade supergene zone (native copper and chalcocite) - accessed in initial years to maximise earnings 

 

 Exhaustive metallurgical work completed - high metal recoveries achieved 
Significant time, effort and expenditure has been allocated to metallurgy, resulting in high metal recoveries and 
premium concentrate grades. 

 

 Low mining and processing costs 
CuDeco expects to maintain one of the industries lowest percentile mining and processing costs, at just 81c/lb 

 

 Off-take agreements in place 
 

 Development activity advancing 
Site activities well advanced, with construction of major infrastructure currently underway. 

 

 Located close to major regional Queensland township - reduced development costs  
Workforce based in Cloncurry (~15km from mine site) - access to existing roads, rail, highway, 
airport, shops, healthcare, etc. 
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Notes on Preliminary Financial Model 
 
The Preliminary Financial Model was compiled from data 
and information developed from independent expert 
consultants, together with contributions from in-house 
consultants and CuDeco employees. 
 
Subsequent to pit optimisation studies and development 
of preliminary mining schedules, a proposed increase in 
the mining rate has been determined to provide superior 
project economics. 
 
Amendments to the currently approved EIS is required 
and is currently underway. 
 
Proposed changes to mining rates will impact current 
waste-dump designs and also includes the creation of a 
stockpile of low-grade ore that would otherwise have 
been discarded on the waste dumps. 
 
When the amended EIS submission has been approved 
and final capital costs are available for the revised mining 
plans, the Company will be in a position to complete a 
DFS. 
 

Key Input Assumptions to Preliminary 
Financial Model; 
 

Average metal prices; 
 

Copper = USD$3.40 per pound 
 

Cobalt (+pyrite/sulphur credit) = USD$26 per pound/Co 
 

Gold = US$1600 per ounce 
 

Magnetite = USD$220 per tonne 
 

Average Metal Recoveries; 
 

Copper = 95% 
Cobalt = 90% 
Gold = 75% 
Magnetite = 55% 
 

USD/AUD exchange rate = 0.90 
 

May 2011 Resource Estimate 
30.3 Million tonnes @ 1.7% CuEq 
 

Mining costs = 42.29 cents per lb 

Preliminary 
Financial Model 
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Top; example of wide diameter PQ (85mm) metallurgical 
diamond core being retrieved from the diamond drill string. 
Massive solid copper and chalcocite can be seen throughout. 
(Native copper contains 99.8% copper and chalcocite contains 
79.9% copper).  
 
Above; Snap-shot of inputs used in the preliminary financial 
model - fleet operating costs are one of the largest expenses of 
any mining project. 



 

Processing costs = 38.92 cents per lb 
 

Transport costs to Port of Townsville = $50 per tonne of concentrate 
 

Concentrates sold FOB Townsville under off-take agreement 
 

Smelter (treatment & refining) = USD$0.15 per lb 
 

Royalties = 4.0% of gross revenues 
 

Mining dilution = 5% 
 

Mining loss = 5% 
 

Mining rate maintained throughout 10 year mining life - requires increased waste dump size and 
amendment to current EIS after year 6 (currently underway). 
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Based on 10 year life of mine; 
 
Project revenue…………………………….. 
 
Operating project costs …………………... 
 
Pre-tax Net operating cash flow………….. 
 
Pre-production capital……………………... 
 
Pre Tax NPV (Using 10% discount rate)… 
 
Pre Tax NPV (Using 7.5% discount rate)… 
 
Internal Rate of Return ……...……………. 
 
Mining and processing costs……………... 
 
Life of Mine Strip Ratio……………………. 
 
Mill throughput……………………………… 
 

 
 
$4.10 Billion 
 
$1.22 Billion 
 
$3.08 Billion 
 
$0.25 Billion 
 
$1.40 Billion 
 
$1.65 Billion 
 
117% 
 
$0.81 per lb 
 
3.16 to 1 
 
3mt p/a 
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Location, Location… 
 

 Mining Leases ML90177 & ML90188 and Infrastructure 
Corridor ML90219 (white outline)  

 

 EPM18054 (yellow) - Strategic Importance (with 
significant exploration potential) 

 

 Located approximately 15km from the Cloncurry 
township and base for workforce 

 

 17km to the Company’s new Cloncurry Multi-user Rail 
Loop and Subdivision Facility east of Cloncurry 

 

 Sealed road to site completed in a cost-share 
arrangement between CuDeco and Cloncurry Shire 
Council. 

 

 National Rail and road access via Cloncurry 
 
 
 

Location 
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Whilst development planning for the Rocklands Group Copper Project 
has been ongoing for years, actual ground activities specifically related to 
development of the Project only commenced in April 2012, literally the day after 
receipt of approval for the Plan of Operations from the Queensland Government’s 
Department of Environment and Heritage Protection (DEHP). 
 

The approval follows granting of the 30 year Mining Leases in late 2011, after completing an 
almost 6-year regulatory and feasibility process. The approval of the Plan of Operations was the 
final regulatory requirement to enable the development of the Rocklands Group Copper Project to 
formally commence. 
 

It has been a long road since the first discovery hole drilled into the world-class Las Minerale deposit in 
mid 2006 and the subsequent delineation of a global resource with over 3.7 billion pounds of copper 

equivalent metal (1.68 million tonnes). 
 

Whilst ground activities may have only commenced in April 2012, prior to the approval of the Plan of 
Operations, development ramp-up activities have been ongoing, including detailed resource assessment, pit 
design and mine scheduling, finalisation and assessment of metallurgical work, engineering and design of major 
infrastructure and logistical requirements, and of course finalisation of design of the Process Plant and ordering of 

long-lead-time components. 
 

Process Plant  
 

Major components for the new Rocklands Processing Plant are primarily being manufactured in China and managed 
by the Company’s design engineers China Nerin Engineering Ltd in conjunction with EP Contractor Sinosteel 
Equipment and Engineering Co Ltd. 
 

Since the end of the 2012 financial year CuDeco’s fabricators, construction, electrical and mechanical engineers, 
travelled to China to assess and sign-off on outstanding design solutions, representing the final stages of the pre-
manufacturing design process. Stringent Quality Assurance and Quality Control (QAQC) measures have been 
employed by the Company, which has included numerous visits and inspections of various manufacturing plants in 

China. 
 

Under the terms of the equipment supply agreements, major items are first built, then erected in their working 
configurations for final testing and approval prior to being de-constructed and shipped to Rocklands for final 
assembly and testing on site. 
 

Primary & Secondary Crushing Circuit (design capacity 4.4mtpa) 
 

Ore from the pit is first processed through the Crushing Circuit which consists of a Primary Jaw Crusher 
capable of processing 550 tonnes per hour, and two 65 tonne Secondary Rolls Crushers with multiple 
conveyor and screening circuits. Brisbane Company EMS-Index are sourcing the crushing circuit from TRIO, 
who are manufacturing the units at their Shanghai factory. The Rolls crusher has been sent to the TRIO 
factory for final fit out with mounting structures.  
 

Other components include the Roller Crusher, Jaw Crusher, Primary Feeder, Pan Feeder, Screens and 
various Skid structures. The contract with EMS-Index includes a 6,600 tonne underground tunnel 
feeder system and a secondary 70,000 tonne crushed ore stockpile with feeder system, which will 
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allow for 8 days continuation of supply of ore to the 
treatment plant during shutdowns and maintenance 
periods.  
 
Construction of Crusher foundations and associated 
concrete structures are expected to commence mid 
October 2012 and the first of the Crushing equipment is 
expected to arrive on site in early November. 
 

High-pressure Grinding Rolls 
 
The crushed ore from the Crushing Circuit (max size 
40mm), is then processed through the High-pressure 
Grinding Rolls (HPGR) and associated circuit including 
Trommel, that has been chosen in place of a Sag Mill due 
to the size of the native copper resource. The HPGR has 
proven to be extremely efficient at liberating native copper 
from the associated ore and gangue material with minimal 
deformation of the native copper nuggets, and is being 
manufactured by German Company Polysius.  
 
HPGR testing formed an integral part of the Pilot Plant 
testing of the native copper and primary ores undertaken 
at the Nagrom Metallurgical Laboratories in WA and 
resulted in 97% recovery of +1mm native copper from the 
native copper ore, with the balance (-1mm native copper) 
being recovered through the gravity and flotation circuits.  
 

Native Copper Gravity Circuit 
 
Crushed ore from the HPGR passes through native 
copper recovery circuit primarily consisting of gravity jigs 
(alljig®) that are currently being manufactured by 
allmineral of Germany.  
 
The native copper metal concentrate is expected to 
achieve premium prices compared to sulphide copper 
concentrates. 
 

Ball Mill 
 
The large-scale Ball Mill, a major component of any 
mineral processing plant, is being manufactured by Citic 
Heavy Industries China and currently scheduled to be 
delivered to site prior to the end of 2012. This is well 
ahead of the agreed timetable, which was originally 
scheduled for delivery in February 2013. 

Development 
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Top; allmineral alljig® at BHP Whyalla South Australia. 
 
Middle; lifting one of two Grinding Rolls into position - recent 
HPGR installation by Polysius in the Middle East. 
 
Above; Similar Ball Mill (but smaller) being completed at Citics 
China facility. 



The combination of Primary and 
Secondary Crushers, Screens, 
HPGR’s, Trommels, Gravity Jigs, and 
4.8MW Ball Mill grinding circuit, are expected 
to collectively deliver an optimal final product to 
the concentrator circuits for recovery of fine native 
copper, sulphide and oxide minerals and magnetite. 
 
The Gravity Circuit, designed to recover the coarser fractions 
of native copper metal in the initial years, will be 
decommissioned once the native copper resource has been 
depleted. The remainder of the Plant will continue to operate 
unaffected, but at reduced operating costs.  
 
In the event additional native copper resources are discovered, the 
Gravity Circuit will remain in operation. 
 

Current Status of Major Components; 
 

 Ball-mill (5800 diameter x 8300mm long) - ahead of schedule 
 

 alljig® - on schedule 
 

 High Pressure Grinding Rolls (HPGR) - on schedule 
 

 Basic Engineering for the processing plant - completed 
 

 Crusher circuit (3mtpa) on track for completion of commissioning by end 
January 2012 - one month behind schedule 

 

 Structural steel requirements ordered for the mineral processing plant. The 
supply agreement requires all steel to be prefabricated prior to export to 
Rocklands, which will reduce the expensive costs associated with the onsite 
fabrication, cutting and handling. To be delivered in four shipments embarking 
China from December 2012, to March 2013 - on schedule 

 

 Thickeners have been ordered - on schedule 
 

 Scrubber has been ordered - on schedule 
 

 Flotation cells have been ordered - on schedule 
 

 Tower mills have been ordered - on schedule 
 

 Tenders have been called for the Process Control System - on 
schedule 

 

 Detailed design engineering - on schedule 
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Left, top to bottom; various products from bulk-sample test-work (from top to bottom & left to right); large native 
copper nuggets (+40mm); smaller native copper nuggets (+4mm-40mm); light-grey flotation froth (primary 
circuit - chalcocite); yellow flotation froth (primary circuit - chalcopyrite); chalcopyrite/cobaltic pyrite 
concentrate and; magnetite separation of magnetite. 
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Ground Activities Commence 
 
Major site development activity went into full-swing after 
the granting of the Rocklands Project Plan of Operations 
in April 2012. 
 
Construction of major access roads, haul roads, various 
structures and service buildings, civil infrastructure 
development and pit strip-back operations are currently 
underway. 
 
The first shot (blast) of the project took place in 
September 2012, as part of construction of the project’s 
Water Diversion Channel...since this time numerous 
shots have taken place on the project. 
 
The first shot was long anticipated by all on site who have 
worked tirelessly on the project through the good times 
and the tough times, and by the many shareholders who 
have shared the journey with us. The Company views this 
event as an unambiguously significant milestone for the 
Project, in what has been an eventful journey since the 
first discovery hole back in 2006. 
 
At the time of writing this report infrastructure costs are 
running at $16m under budget compared to pre-
development costing studies. Highly proficient 
management of assets and innovative development 
methods are resulting in considerable time and costs 
savings throughout the project. 
 
By way of example; the use of large scrapers for removal 
and storing of organic and top soil for later use in 
rehabilitation is costing an average of approximately 
$1.10 per Bank Cubic Metre (BCM), compared to pre-
development estimates of $3.50 per BCM. The Project 
currently has two teams of 3 Scrapers each, moving a 
total of 16,000 BCM’s per day. 
 
The Diversion Channel was estimated at $8.50 per BCM 
in pre-development studies, and is at the date of this 
report is averaging just $3.50 per BCM.  
 
 
 
 
 

Development 
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Top; pre-strip clearing of organic material and topsoil from the 
Process Plant area 
 
Middle; second Blast of the project at the Water Diversion 
Channel. 
 
Above; surveyors shooting levels during construction of the 
main Water Storage Facility. 



Key 
Development 
Activities Currently 
Underway Include; 
 

 Las Minerale, Rocklands South and 
Rocklands South Extension starter-pits 

 

 Las Minerale and Rocklands South surface 
bedrock drilling and sampling programme 

 

 Morris Creek Diversion Channel 
 

 Tailings Storage Facility (TSF) Diversion Channel 
 

 Infrastructure corridor haul roads  
 

 Tailings Storage Facility (TSF) 
 

 Water Storage Facility (WSF) 
 

 Major Access Roads 
 

 Process Plant design (China) 
 

 Process Pant - crusher pad preparation 
 

 Multi-user Rail Load-out Facility - From Mill to Market  
 

 

 

Las Minerale and Rocklands South Starter Pits 
 
At the locations of the Las Minerale and Rocklands South starter pits, organic material and topsoil has been removed 
and stored in segregated stockpiles for later rehabilitation work, and initial development activities are currently 
underway, including removal of some areas of surface rock. 
 
Pit outlines have been surveyed and planning is underway for preliminary excavations prior to mining. 
 

Las Minerale and Rocklands South Bedrock Drilling and Sampling Programme 
 
A high-intensity shallow bedrock drilling and sampling programme was conducted over both the Las Minerale 
and Rocklands South starter pit locations, targeting depths to 25m predominately within the native copper and 
chalcocite supergene zones, but also in areas proximal to these zones. 
 
The purpose was to delineate shallow zones of copper mineralisation above and proximal to the 
supergene, native copper and chalcocite zones, speculated to exist and as identified in a shallow test-
trench excavated earlier in the year, not been included in the current resource model. 
 
Several zones of native copper were intersected that were not included in the current native 
copper domain of the resource, including a separate area some 50m to the south of the 
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Water bore drilling - water pumped from pit 
dewatering bores is diverted to the main Water 
Storage facility. 
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identified native copper zone. 
 
The bedrock programme is expected to be completed by 
the end of October. 
 

Morris Creek Diversion Channel 
 
Construction of the Morris Creek Diversion Channel is 
well underway.  
 
The Diversion Channel is required to divert water flowing 
though Morris Creek during the wet season away from 
the pit and development areas. The diversion channel is 
scheduled to be completed prior to the onset of the wet 
season, which arrives typically from late October 
onwards. 
 
First water to flow through the channel will be temporarily 
diverted to fill the projects main Water Storage Facility, 
also currently under construction. 
 
The first shots of the project were fired to remove 
topographical obstructions in the path of the channel. 
 

Infrastructure Corridor, Haul Road and 
Tailings Storage Facility (TSF) 
 
Development clearing and excavation activities were 
completed on the Infrastructure Corridor (ML90219) that 
links the Project’s two main Mining Leases (ML90177 & 
ML90188), and haul-road construction is underway. 
 
This important access corridor enables delivery of power 
required for tailings dewatering and return water systems, 
and facilitates the construction of pipelines and haul road 
access between the process plant and TSF.  

Development 
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Top; diversion channel temporary keyway to divert this years 
rains to the main Water Storage Facility. 
 
Above; excavator and dump trucks removing material from the 
first blast of the project during construction of the Water 
Diversion Channel. 
 
Top right; excavator and dump trucks removing material from 
the second blast of the project during construction of the Water 
Diversion Channel. 



The Rocklands Project TSF is 
designed for a minimum storage 
capacity of 30 million tonnes of tailings 
waste, and is designed to facilitate the 
30mt of ore scheduled to be processed 
through the Rocklands Process Plant during the 
current 10 year mine plan. The TSF is located on 
ML90188, where clearing, initial cut-back and various 
earthworks are underway. 
 

Water Storage Facility (WSF) 
 
Topsoil removal and stockpiling for future use in rehabilitation 
works has been completed, and earthmoving surface scrappers are 
nearing completion of the stripping and redistribution of clay zones 
identified for use in constructing the water impervious layers required 
for dam wall construction. 
 
As with the Diversion Channel, construction of the WSF is scheduled to be 
completed prior to the onset of the wet season to ensure maximum water 
capture and storage is attained prior to commissioning of the mineral 
process plant. Dewatering bores will also be diverted to the WSF, adding to 
water inventory and helping ensure continuity of water supply for the project. 
 

Major Access Roads 
 
Construction of major access and heavy haulage roads continues, with supply 
of road-base being met by the Company’s Mobile Crushing Circuit. Rock types 
perfect for use in road-base such as dolerite, are prolific at Rocklands, and has 
resulted in significant cost savings over material that may otherwise have been 
sourced externally. 
 

Process Plant Site Preparation 
 
Site preparation, surveying and construction of foundations for the three 
stage crushing circuit are currently underway, with initial concrete works 
anticipated to commence in October. The contract requires the complete 
crushing circuit to be installed and commissioned by mid December 
2012. 
 
The Company is in final discussions with a number of contractors for 
the erection and construction of the 3 million tonnes per annum 
mineral process plant at Rocklands. The plant has been designed 
to accept various types of ore and has individual circuits to 
produce Copper-Gold, Cobalt- Pyrite, Native Copper and 
Magnetite concentrates. 
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The Company expects to have the contracts finalised by 
the end of October 2012.  
 
Shipping of the process plant from Germany and China 
commences late October, with a number of shipments 
expected to arrive at Rocklands through to July 2013. The 
process plant is expected to be commissioned late 2013.  
 
Foundations for the ball mill and the HPGR that are the 
two largest pieces of equipment in the mineral process 
plant, are expected to commence in October 2012. 
 

Multi-user Rail Load-out Facility 
 
Due to the significant growth of the Cloncurry Copper Belt 
and multiple new projects anticipated to commence in the 
region over coming years, CuDeco recognised the mutual 
benefit available if a joint venture (JV) development 
approach was adopted for the facility. 
 
The Cloncurry Multi-user Rail Load-out Facility will now 
incorporate a JV between CuDeco, Xstrata (operators of 
Mt Isa Mines and Ernest Henry), and China state-owned 
Minmetals Group (MMG - operators of the Century Zinc 
operations in North-west Queensland). 
 
The approvals process is being progressed by the joint 
venture parties. 
 
The proposed facility, expected to be completed late 2013 
or early 2014, will provide significant savings to CuDeco 
compared to a go-it-alone option, and measurable 
benefits for all joint development participants, the 
Cloncurry township, and more broadly, the entire region. 
 
As part of the agreement, Facility partners will make an 
annual contribution to a Local Cloncurry Community 

Development 
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Top; shallow bedrock drilling programme over the Las Minerale 
starter pit area 
 
Above; blast-hole array for the second blast of the project. 
 
Top right; dump truck removing waste from the site of the first 
blast at the diversion channel 



Fund, plus make 
an additional payment 
based on the Facility’s 
throughput, all up expected to 
total about $100,000 per year. 
 
The facility will be located approximately 
7-10km east of the major regional township 
of Cloncurry in North-west Queensland 
Australia, and forms a critical component of a 
three stage mill-to-market process facilitating 
transportation of concentrates from our Rocklands 
Group Copper Project located approximately 15km 
from the township of Cloncurry, to international 
markets.  

 
Located east, and on the Townsville-side the township of Cloncurry, the Company avoids adding further 
congestion to the already problematic rail induced grid-locks that occur in the township from time to time due to 
slow-moving trains (up to 1.2km long), shipping concentrate through the middle of town, from facilities owned by 
operators to the north and west of town. 
 

Mill to Market Via Three-stage Concentrate Transportation Process Employing Best 
Practice Environmentally Safe Procedures 
 
CuDeco’s three stage mill-to-market process will include; 
 
Stage 1: Negatively pressurised loading facility at the Rocklands Group Copper Project, where concentrates from the 
Mill will be loaded directly into sealed containers within a negatively pressurised environment designed to contain 
concentrate dust and significantly reduce impact on the environment. Once sealed, containers will be dispatched to the 
Company’s Multi-use Rail Load Facility in Cloncurry. 
 
Stage 2: The Cloncurry Multi-use Rail-load Facility will be capable of processing up to 480,000 tonnes of mineral 
concentrates per annum from CuDeco’s 100% owned Rocklands Group Copper Project. The Multi-use Rail-load 
Facility provides access to the Port of Townsville via the Queensland Rail network. 
 
Stage 3: CuDeco's Port of Townsville Ship-loading and Storage Facility will include storage capacity of up 400,000 
tonnes of mineral concentrates and includes an associated Ship-loading Facility capable of loading concentrates 
at the rate of 2,000 tonnes per hour. The Ship-loading facility will provide provides access to international 
markets and completes the final stage of the Company’s 3-stage mill-to-market cycle.  
 
Production from the Rocklands Group Copper project (100% owned by CuDeco), is due to commence in late 
2013. 
 
Collectively, the Company’s loading and transportation facilities will represent one of the most 
environmentally friendly systems of minerals concentrate transportation yet built in Queensland. 
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Loading sealed containers at the Cloncurry Multi-
user Rail-load Facility - 3D design model 
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With pre-development activities currently the central focus 
of the Company, exploration was scaled back towards the 
end of 2011, to both conserve cash and allow key staff to 
focus on the more immediate demands of resource 
analysis and pre-mine planning and associated activities, 
such as the design and supervision of pit-dewatering and 
geotechnical programmes, compilation of pre-blasting 
reactive ground analysis and various other mining related 
activities. 
 
None the less, exploration continued to a limited degree 
in both new areas and at various prospects previously 
flagged for follow-up exploration across the Rocklands 
project area. 

Many of these “prospects in waiting” will gain our full 
attention once the Rocklands Process Plant is 
commissioned and production has commenced.  
 
The Company still has two high powered Reverse 
Circulation (RC) drill rigs on site (owned 100% by 
CuDeco), currently on care and maintenance and waiting 
to be unleashed on an expanded exploration budget. 

Exploration 

Page 22 

Top; Developing structural and geological interpretation of the 
Fairfield mineralised zone, showing potentially truncated, fault-
controlled offsetting of mineralisation. Previous drilling was 
oriented parallel to the interpreted faults and is likely to have 
missed them. 
 
Above; gravity 3D inversion image with existing resource 
models, surface geochem and the various “prospects in waiting” 
across the Rocklands project area. 



Exploration within the Rocklands Project area during the period include 
activity at; 
 

 Las Minerale 
 

 Geophysics (Induced Polarisation - IP Chargeability) - Target North of Northern 
Siltstone Ore-body 

 

 Wilgar (diamond drilling) 
 

 Wilgar (bedrock drilling) 
 

 Fairfield prospect 
 

 Large IOCC Style Geophysical Anomaly (North-west Gravity Prospect) 
 

 South-west Geophysics Anomaly 
 

 Amphibolite Unit 
 

 Costean Programme throughout the Rocklands Project area 
 

 Eastern Anomaly - New Style of Exploration Target 
 

The Company also conducted desk-top and field reconnaissance exploration activities on our new EPM18054, which 
shares a common boundary point with the Rocklands ML90177 located to the south-west. The three sub-blocks of 
close to 10 square kilometres in area, were awarded to CuDeco in late 2011 and have a number of historic copper 
and graphite mines within the boundaries. Initial reconnaissance has been highly encouraging. 
 
Subsequent to the end of the year, a significant geophysics programme is to commence over numerous locations of the 
Rocklands Project ML90177 and the Company’s new EPM18054. Sub Audio Magnetics (SAM) has been an invaluable 
exploration tool with an considerable success rate for identifying mineralisation at Rocklands.  
 
Several programmes are planned for the new SAM Geophysics Survey including; 
 

 Entire coverage of EPM18054 (SAM and TMI/TFMMR galvanic) 
 

 High-resolution coverage of the area immediately surrounding Wilgar (SAM and TMI/TFMMR galvanic) 
 

 High-resolution coverage of the area immediately surrounding Fairfield (SAM and TMI/TFMMR galvanic) 
 

 Re-processing of existing and new data to generate 3D inversion models 
 
The focus of Exploration for 2012 and beyond includes; 
 

 Finding the next “Las Minerale” 
 

 Increase resource inventory 
Fairfield, Wilgar, Las Minerale (NW & depth), Solsbury Hill 

 

 Generate additional resource information for mine scheduling 
Increase mining confidence - Rainden infill and Las Minerale shallow bedrock drilling programmes 

 

 Identify new shallow satellite deposits suitable for supplementary feed 
Opportunity to monetise small, otherwise sub-economic deposits 
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Las Minerale 
 
Las Minerale is the Company’s flagship ore-body, with a 
large supergene zone that continues from surface to 
170m deep in places, containing significant resources of 
coarse native copper and high-grade chalcocite. Las 
Minerale is one of a group of clustered, sub-parallel 
striking ore-bodies that will be collectively mined over the 
first 10 years of planned mining operations at Rocklands. 
 
Las Minerale infill diamond drilling 
 
A geologically important diamond drill hole was drilled into 
Las Minerale in a section of the ore-body where no 
diamond drilling had previously been completed. The 
purpose of the hole was to verify the grade of limited 
Reverse Circulation (RC) drilling data within this area and 
to provide valuable information for pit optimisation work. 
Previous drilling from this area was limited due to the 
existence of a water harvesting facility in the area, which 
was recently moved. The drill hole confirmed the grades 
of surrounding RC holes, but extended high-grade 
mineralisation 30m past the current planned pit depth, 
providing valuable information in this previously lightly 
drilled area. 
 
Results for DODH243 include; 
 

211m @ 1.90% CuEq 
(from 23m) 

 

Including 

21m @ 3.68% CuEq 
(from 35m) 

 

And 

12m @ 3.70% CuEq 
(from 73m) 

 

And 

7m @ 4.10% CuEq 
(from 94m) 

 

And 

14m @ 3.89% CuEq 
(from 109m) 

 

See full table details of the above intersections in Competent 
Person Statement at the end of this report. 
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Top; example of native copper nuggets up to 80mm in size (cut 
with diamond saw), recovered at 5m depth in deep costean. 
 
Middle; 1m benches that were sampled in 12m deep costean 
located over central Las Minerale, with exposed malachite, 
azurite and chalcocite/ 
 
Above; example of large native copper nugget, possibly 
encountered in soft clay or friable oxide material and unable to 
return up the small (20mm) sample return holes at the end of 
the RC bit, recovered during infill drilling in 2010. 



Las Minerale deep 
diamond drilling 
 
A deep diamond hole was 
drilled under Las Minerale, 
targeting interpreted extensions to high
-grade mineralisation at depth and 
intersected grades and widths suitable for 
underground mining at Rocklands. Deep drilling 
was temporarily suspended due to the termination 
of a follow-up hole prior to reaching target due to 
the inability of the drill rig to drill below 800m. The 
hole will be re-entered, and further deep holes drilled, 
once a suitable rig is available.  
  
Las Minerale deep costean 
 
A number of heavily oxidised native copper nuggets (up to 
80mm in size) were identified just 5m from surface during 
excavation of a deep costean in central Las Minerale. The 
native copper zone, (which includes all grain sizes), as defined 
in the current resource estimate, commences from 
approximately 15m from surface for the most part, with 
occasional zones as shallow as 8-10m from surface. Coarse 
native copper however is identified as commencing from 
approximately 20-25m depth, although some shallower zones do 
exist. 
 
The area defined as the “native copper domain” within the current 
resource block model, did not identify native copper to be present 
at the depths being targeted in the deep costean, suggesting the 
currently defined native copper zone may need to be expanded. 
 
In addition to native copper nuggets, soft “sooty” chalcocite 
mineralisation was identified throughout the entire oxide zone 
below 3m, and appears to be far more widespread than 
anticipated, particularly from 5m to the maximum depth of the 
costean at 12m. Assays for copper in these areas were 
previously thought to be mostly attributable to traditional 
oxide copper-ores. 
 
Chalcocite has not been identified above 14m in either 
RC or diamond drilling in the immediate area. Copper is 
more easily recovered from chalcocite ore than it is 
from traditional oxide ores (malachite/azurite), so the 
identification of more than anticipated chalcocite 
within the oxide zone may well result in an 
upgrade of overall copper recoveries from 
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The green-grey/olive coloured high-grade copper
-rich ore is easily identified against the red-
coloured, iron-rich gangue (waste) material. The 
deep costean, excavated over central Las 
Minerale was constructed in two stages, the 
second of which was limited by the vertical reach 
of the excavator. 
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these zones. The extent of the chalcocite zone, as 
defined in the current resource estimate, may also need 
to be expanded. 
 

Geophysics (Induced Polarisation - IP 
Chargeability) Target - North of Northern 
Siltstone Ore-body 
 
Diamond drill hole DODH255 was designed as a follow-
up hole to previous drilling that intersected a number of 
mineralised structures in an area not previously drilled, 
between the Northern Siltstone and Rainden ore-bodies.  
 
The drill hole targeted a “football-shaped” IP chargeability 
anomaly that extends from Las Minerale and dips 
downward at a moderate angle beneath the Northern 
Siltstone Ore-body, then continues on towards the 
interpreted down-dip extension of the Rainden Ore-body 
(see image to right). 
 
Diamond drill hole DODH255 was the third exploration 
hole to test the new area and was designed to follow up 
on the semi-massive sulphides intersected in previous 
drill holes. 
 
Results for DODH255 include; 
 

6m @ 3.62 CuEq 
(from 143m) 

 

Including 

4m @ 5.20% CuEq 
(from 143m) 

 

And 

18m @ 0.54% CuEq 
(from 222m) 

 

And 

4m @ 0.63% CuEq 
(from 252m) 

 

And 

6m @ 0.51% CuEq 
(from 314m) 

 
 
 

See full table details of the above intersections in Competent 
Person Statement at the end of this report. 
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Top; massive sulphides (chalcopyrite and pyrite) intersected at 
approximately 145m in exploration diamond drill hole DODH255 
in a new zone yet to be followed up and characterised by large 
Induced Polarisation (IP) signature north of Las Minerale; 
massive sulphides (chalcopyrite and pyrite), intersected at 
approximately 137m in exploration diamond drill hole 
DODH392. 
 
Middle; Induced Polarisation (IP), Chargeability targets, 
correspond with (from left to right), the Southern Siltstone, Las 
Minerale and Northern Siltstone ore-bodies. 
 
Above; example of high-grade drill core from approximately 79m 
in diamond drill core DODH443 at Fairfield - massive and semi-
massive chalcocite and chalcopyrite (chalcocite contains 79.9% 
copper metal, chalcopyrite contains 34.6% copper metal), and 
minor bornite (bornite contains 63.3% copper metal).  



Wilgar  
 
One of the most exciting prospects at the Rocklands Project, for which a resource 
estimate has not yet been completed, is the Wilgar Prospect.  
 
The Wilgar prospect was initially indentified as a potential uranium prospect by CRA in 1972, 
after regional-scale radiometric surveys highlighted the Wilgar Twin-Hills area. Subsequent 
ground reconnaissance identified high-grade uranium (up to 39% U) in rock-chip samples. It 
appears from historic records that gold was never tested for. 
 
Some 35 years later, CuDeco conducted a first-pass, wide-spaced reconnaissance soil sampling 
programme over the Rocklands EPM, part of which traversed an area close to the Wilgar Prospect, and 
identified anomalous base metals. Follow-up soil sampling programmes and a limited bedrock drilling 
programme subsequently identified an area at the south-west of the Wilgar Twin-hills as a potential area of 
high-grade gold mineralisation.  
 
The Wilgar Prospect was first drilled by CuDeco in July 2007, however due to the low-grade nature of the copper 
results were not initially tested for gold (only results over 0.2% Cu at Rocklands are automatically tested for gold). 
During a routine results audit towards the end of 2007, it was determined Wilgar drill core should also be analysed 
for gold. 
 
Assay results (1m sample length) identified gold up to 63.2g/t Au and silver up to 822g/t Ag. 
 
In early 2008 the Company stepped up its focus on the main mineralised zones at Rocklands, with the view to 
upgrading the identified resource to measured and indicated category, in support of resource estimation and 
subsequent mine planning activities. 
 
All available assets were allocated to this important task...with little if any exploration activity undertaken away from 
these main mineralised areas. In spite of significant gold results from diamond drilling at Wilgar, exploration activity was 
postponed. 
 
With a shift in focus back to exploration in early 2011 (after a final round of resource/infill drilling was completed), 
Wilgar finally became the focus of a dedicated exploration programme and has produced some exceptional results. 
 

Wilgar (bedrock drilling) 
 
Bedrock drilling was completed with the Company’s 100% owned Rotary Air Blast (RAB) drill rig. Each hole ends 
once it has drilled into approximately 1m of bedrock, which is typically encountered at depths of 2 to 14 metres at 
Wilgar. The bedrock holes are drilled at close spacing and are designed to pinpoint with accuracy the positioning 
of subsequent diamond holes, which are expensive to drill. 
 
Bedrock drilling during the year returned some outstanding results with grades over 1m up to; 
 

Gold: 39.1g/t Au 
Silver: 350g/t Ag 
Molybdenum: 6460ppm Mo 
Uranium: 13,700ppm U 
Tellurium: 990ppm Te 
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Example of visible free-gold and possible tellurides in drill hole DODH240 at approximately 11m, which assayed 348g/t Au  



Results From Wilgar 
 
Significant zones of gold and silver were intersected in diamond drilling during 
the year, with some of the highest grades yet received from Wilgar including; 
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 DODH264 
 

6m @ 185g/t Au 
(5.95 ounces per tonne gold from 7-13m) 

 

Including highest result yet from Wilgar; 
 

1m @ 1090g/t Au 
(35 ounces per tonne gold from 7-8m) 

 

Wide Zones of High-Grade Mineralisation; 
 

Gold; 23m @ 50.1g/t Au 
(1.61 ounces per tonne gold from 1-24m) 

 

Silver; 23m @ 101g/t Ag 
(3.25 ounces per tonne silver from 1-24m) 

 

Gold Eq; 23m @ 56.2g/t AuEq 
(1.81 ounces per tonne gold equivalent from 1-24m) 

DODH330 
 

14m @ 57.1g/t AuEq 
(from 17-31m)  

 

Including; 
 

3m @ 207g/t AuEq 
(from 18-21m)  

 

Gold; 3m @ 237g/t Au 
(from 18-21m)  

 

Tellurium; 3m @ 1190ppm Te 
(from 18-21m)  

 

Silver; 3m @ 378g/t Ag 
(from 18-21m)  

 

Uranium; 3m @ 1260ppm U 
(from 18-21m)  

Previous results using a cut-off grade of 0.4g/t AuEq with 3m allowance for internal waste, include; 

HOLE DODH248 
 

17m @ 39.8g/t Au 
 

(from 3-20m) 
 

DODH288 
 

27m @ 5.53g/t AuEq 
 

(from 0-27m - hole ended in mineralisation)  
 

DODH285 
 

42m @ 4.23/t AuEq 
 

(from 0-42m) 
 

DODH290 
 

31m @ 4.91g/t AuEq 
 

(from 0-31m)  
 

DODH286 
 

37m @ 5.80g/t AuEq 
 

(from 0-37m)  

DODH310 
 

16m @ 9.20g/t AuEq 
 

(from 2-18m) 
 

DODH287 
 

31m @ 4.84g/t AuEq 
 

(from 0-31m)  
 

DODH258 
 

19m @ 7.66g/t AuEq 
 

(from 4-23m)  
 

DODH262 
 

24m @ 7.69g/t AuEq 
 

(from 3-27m) 
 

DODH261 

18m @ 14.7g/t AuEq 
 

(from 5-23m)  

 

See full table details of the above intersections in Competent Person Statement at the end of this report. 
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Fairfield Prospect 
 
The Fairfield prospect is characterised by encouraging 
geophysical anomalies, such as Sub Audio Magnetics 
(SAM) EQMMR (Conductivity) high and magnetic-high 
anomalies. The SAM survey has proved extremely 
successful in application and exploration in other parts of 
the Rocklands Mining Lease, and has been instrumental 
in the extensional drilling of the Rocklands ore bodies. 
 
Historic records reveal historic mining at Fairfield 
produced 1,118 tonnes of ore at an average grade of 
6.50% Cu from 1968-1972. Workings evident today 
include an open cut pit to a depth of approximately 15m 
with exposed copper oxide minerals (malachite, azurite) 
clearly evident on the pit walls. CuDeco has drilled 
several Diamond and Reverse Circulation (RC) drill holes 
beneath the old pit, based on surface mapping and 
interpretation of mineralisation observed from the pit 
walls, all of which have intersected high-grade 
mineralisation. 
 
A resource estimate has not yet been prepared for 
Fairfield, which will potentially add additional tonnes to 
supplement the high-grade inventory planned to be 
processed at the Rocklands Group Copper Project. 
  
Recent exploration success has highlighted that the 
Fairfield Project contains a zone of mineralisation of 
sufficient grade, to warrant inclusion in the Rocklands 
Copper Project Resource Inventory.  
  
Current plans are to add Fairfield to the Rocklands 
Resource Inventory as High-grade Supplementary Feed 
to the Rocklands Group Copper Project. 
 

DODH320 
 

23m @ 4.19% CuEq 
 

(from 48m) 
 

Subsequent to the end of the financial year, significant 
zones of high-grade mineralisation have been intersected 
at Fairfield including; 

DODH446 
 

21m @ 4.41 CuEq 
 

(from 66m) 
 

See full table details of the above intersections in Competent 
Person Statement at the end of this report. 
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Top; massive and semi-massive Chalcocite (high-grade copper 
mineral, contains 79.9% Cu) and pyrite (cobalt is often 
associated with pyrite at Rocklands), in quartz breccia at 
107.1m in diamond drill hole DODH242 from Fairfield;  
 
Middle; Induced Polarisation (IP) chargeability survey cross 
sections, with approximate position of current resource model 
inset and; 
 
Above; 3D gravity inversion model of a large IOCG the north-
west that also corresponds with a magnetic high. 



Large Iron-oxide Copper Gold (IOCG) Style 
Geophysical Anomaly 
 
Observed mineralisation in several diamond drill holes drilled in the north-west of the 
Rocklands Mining Lease (ML90177), are consistent with “Rocklands Style Mineralisation” 
in terms of mineralogy, host rock, alteration assemblage and mineralising style in the 
overhang jaspilite unit...however, are unique in that mineralisation has been intersected within a 
dolerite intrusion underneath a thin cover of Corella Formation. Prior to these intersections, 
“Rockland’s Style Mineralisation” has only been encountered within the Overhang Jaspilite unit at 
Rocklands. 
 
It is thought mineralisation being encountered is potentially peripheral to hidden structures that could host 
hydrothermal breccias or shear zones, not encountered to date, the surface expression of which are likely 
to be hidden by the relatively shallow Corella Formation now identified to exist in this area.  
 
The North-west Prospect corresponds with a coincident, large east-dipping gravity-high anomaly and magnetic-
high anomaly, and is a major IOCG target. 
 
The North-west of ML90177 is highly-prospective over a very large area and would be impractical to fully explore 
with diamond drilling alone, as such a large RC drilling programme is planned for when the Company’s rigs are 
once again in operation. 
 

South-west Geophysics Anomaly 
  
The south-west area of the Rocklands Mining Lease (ML90177) remains relatively unexplored and has long been an 
area of interest due to numerous geophysical and geochemical anomalies and prospective geology. 
  
Due to commitments in other areas of the Rocklands Project, and the large scale nature of the south-west anomalies, 
a decision was made to postpone advanced exploration in this area until such time as a comprehensive programme 
could commence, without the need to take drill-rigs away from resource and geotechnical based drilling activities, 
important for development of the Rocklands Copper Project.  
  
In the meantime, a substantial geophysical database has been compiled for the area and towards the end of 2011, 
geochemical (soil sampling), programmes and a series of short (approximately 100m) reconnaissance diamond drill 
holes were completed, primarily targeting shallow IP anomalies. Pyrite and pyrrhotite was intersected in calcite rich 
sedimentary unit, but not in sufficient quantities to explain the high-intensity of the anomalies. 
 

Amphibolite Unit 
 
A unit of massive amphibolite, (medium-high temperature metamorphic rock), has been observed in the far 
south of ML90177, throughout which anomalous disseminated copper mineralisation has been observed, 
suggesting it may have been altered by a mineralising metamorphic-hydrothermal system.  
 
The surface outcropping material appears to be of low magnetic content, however the identified zone 
generally corresponds with a magnetic high response in several geophysical surveys, suggesting the 
unit may be underlain by a magnetite rich rock type. A moderate to low-level Sub-audio Magnetic 
(SAM), EQMMR (conductivity) anomaly also coincides with the identified zone.  
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Sample rock-chips from outcrop, within as little as 10cm 
from surface, can be readily found containing 
disseminated copper oxide mineralisation, from trace up 
to 1.4% Cu using hand-held XRF, over an exposed width 
of approximately 150m.  
  
An RC drilling programme is planned for the both the 
South-west and Amphibolite Prospects, which collectively 
cover a very large area and would also be impractical to 
fully explore with diamond drilling alone. 
 

Costean Programme Throughout The 
Rocklands Project Area 
 
A series of costeans were excavated to follow up on 
prospective surface geochemical anomalies identified 
from previous soil sampling and bedrock drilling 
programmes, two of which encountered encouraging wide 
zones of visible copper mineralisation.  
 
Follow-up bedrock drilling was undertaken, which has 
defined 2 significant zones of mineralisation suitable for 
follow-up drill targeting. 
 
Copper is the primary target, however uranium anomalies 
were also targeted for potential Wilgar style mineralisation 
in the north of ML90177. 
 

Eastern Anomaly - New Style of Exploration 
Target 
 
Exploration was conducted proximal to the Eastern 
Anomaly (see image left), designed to follow up on 
anomalous copper assay results from bedrock drilling, 
rock chip sampling and surface reconnaissance. Copper 
grass, a reliable geobotanical indicator for elevated Cu in 
surface material at Rocklands, has been identified over 
wide areas throughout the new target zone. The Eastern 
Anomaly is one of the most prospective targets at the 
Rocklands Project. Surface copper mineralisation has 
been identified at a number of locations along the strike of 
the anomaly (including native copper in surface rock-
chips), and shallow RC holes have intersected 
anomalous copper, suggesting that structures with 
potential for mineralisation may exist at depth.  
 
The target sits at the confluence of a SAM EQMMR 

Exploration 
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Top; Costean 7 (light-blue outline) and adjacent bedrock drilling 
over SAM EQMMR survey - 140m of strike confirmed, open to 
east, south and possibly west at depth. 
 
Middle; Sub Audio Magnetics (SAM) EQMMR (conductivity) 
showing the prospectivity of the area proximal to the Eastern 
Anomaly, Fairfield and Solsbury Hill. 
 
Above; taking samples for analysis (channel sampling) every 
1m along a costean. 



(conductivity) and Residual Gravity high anomaly. A coincident SAM Total Magnetic Intensity (TMI) high 
indicates the presence of magnetite; however no dolerite has been intersected in the shallow holes completed to 
date. The target also coincides with IP conductivity and chargeability anomalies. A major regional structure is 
proximal to the Eastern Anomaly, as are granite intrusions to the immediate east. Spatial proximity to major 
structures and intrusions are thought to be controls for IOCG style mineralisation.  
 
Rock samples from the area have returned elevated grades of Rare Earth Elements, in particular Cerium and 
Neodymium at 2180ppm and 1110ppm respectively. Cerium and Neodymium at these levels have not been identified 
at Rocklands previously, in spite of over 320,000m of drilling completed. The identified mineralisation does not appear 
to be directly associated with SAM EQMMR (conductivity) high anomaly as the Rocklands Cu-Co-Au style that has 
been drilled for the past 5 years. 
 
As such this represents a new style of mineralisation, for a new exploration strategy will be developed. Follow up 
drilling is planned to test identified surface mineralisation. 
 

Exploration to Begin on New EPM18054  
 
Preliminary desk-top investigations have been completed over the Company’s new Exploration Permit EPM18054, 
located immediately south-west of the Company’s Rocklands Group Copper Project in Cloncurry, Queensland, 
Australia.  
 
EPM18054 shares a common boundary point with the Company’s existing Mining Leases, and provides both 
strategic significance and exploration attraction. 
 
There are no records of previous drilling activity within the new EPM area, however historic drilling campaigns 
have been conducted adjacent to the western boundary, where minor and significant intersections of both 
copper and gold were encountered, and to the north, where zinc was encountered.  
 
Previous workings and mining leases are known in EPM18054, covering multiple commodities. Initial 
ground reconnaissance has discovered copper minerals malachite and chalcopyrite at various 
locations, however for the most part there appears to be limited outcrop over vast alluvial plains, 
potentially obscuring mineralised structures.  
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M a l a c h i t e 
(copper oxide) in 
siltstone, uncovered in 
exploration costean 7, 
positioned according to inter-
pretation of geochemical and 
geophysical anomalies. The mineral-
ised zone correlates with a Sub Audio 
Magnetics (SAM) EQMMR (conductivity) 
anomaly in the south-west of the Rocklands 
EPM. The area has not been drilled previously.  
 
Inset shows location of costean relative to EPM 
and SAM conductivity survey. 
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Capital Raisings 
 
December 2011 - $86.3 Million raised through the issue 
of 23,977,000 shares at a price of $3.60 per share with a 
Hong Kong Based Resource Fund. 
 
January 2012 - $32 Million raised through the issue of 
8,000,000 shares at a price of $4.00 per share, principally 
with M&G Investments (M&G). 
 

Shares in Lieu 
 
Sinosteel Equipment and Engineering Co Ltd (Sinosteel), 
one of China’s largest state owned enterprises, and 
supplier of components for the Rocklands processing 
plant, agreed to exercise an option to receive CuDeco 
shares in lieu of cash for additional/alternative 
components ordered for the Rocklands 3mtpa process 
plant. Sinosteel will be issued 3,333,333 fully paid shares 
at an issue price of $3.90 per share, in lieu of $13m cash, 
representing a 28% premium to prevailing prices at that 
time. 
 

Appointment of New Director 
 
In April the Company Appointed Mr. Hongwei Liu as a 
new Non-Executive Director of CuDeco Limited. Mr Liu is 
a graduate from Mechanical Design and Manufacturing 
Dalian Ocean University with a bachelor degree, and a 
master degree of Management from Massey University 
New Zealand. He specialised in professional 
management and administration and during his career 
has been involved in a number of major investment 
projects covering a wide range of areas including finance 
and energy. Mr. Liu is a director of Oceanwide 
International Resources Investment Co., Ltd and is 
responsible for this Company's investments for overseas 
projects especially within the finance, energy and 
resource sectors. He is also currently Managing Director 
of Minsheng Investment Management Holdings Co 
Limited. 
 

Share Buy-back 
 
The Company’s on-market share buy-back that was 
announced 31 May 2011 ended. A total of 10,519,281 
ordinary shares were purchased and cancelled during the 
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Top; CuDeco share price performance from 1 July 2011m to 1 
July 2012, with copper prices as a reference on the same price 
scale. 
 
Above; A bite to eat in a New York restaurant with some friendly 
brokers. Second from left; Peter Hutchison (CuDeco Executive 
Director); Middle; Wayne McCrae (CuDeco Executive 
Chairman); Second from right; David Wilson (CuDeco Principal 
Advisor - Exploration, Resource and Communications). 



period. These 
shares were bought 
back at an average price 
of $3.35 per share. 
 
The current share price, as the 
2012 Annual Report goes to press, is 
$4.77 (15-10-12) 
 
The Board of Directors approved a new on-
market buy-back program at the expiry of the 
previous plan for an additional period of 12 
months, as part of a capital management plan. No 
shares have yet been bought back under the plan, 
which runs to June 2013. 
 

Additional Office Space 
 

The Company acquired additional office space in Southport 
in anticipation of the planned expansion of the group’s 
operations. 

 

Community Information Night - high level of support 
 

It is the Company’s intention to keep the local community full informed of developments at Rocklands. 
 
CuDeco made the first of several planned presentations to the local Cloncurry community, providing an update on the 
current project status including contracting, supply and employment opportunities. The Company was very pleased 
with the turn-out, with a large section of the local community attending.  
 
Feedback from attendees and the general local community was positive, especially in relation to potential employment 
and supply opportunities. Concerns were raised regarding accommodation and potential for mining operations to move 
from residential to a fly-in fly-out based work force, however CuDeco reaffirmed its commitment to maintain 
residential operations unlike others in the area, which was a point well received. 
 

National and International Road-shows (Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane, Hong Kong, 
London, Toronto and New York) 
 
In March the Company embarked on its first national road-show in over six years. The visit included lead 
brokers, analysts, fund managers, institutions and large shareholders in Sydney, Melbourne and Brisbane. 
The Company’s representatives met with more than 20 groups. 
 
In June key representatives of the Company embarked on an international road-show, including visits with 
various funds, institutions and commodity investment groups throughout Hong Kong, London, Toronto 
and New York. It was an exhausting yet highly successful visit, with approximately 60 meetings 
conducted in four countries over just 15 days. 
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Contract Signing Ceremony between CuDeco 
Limited and Sinosteel Equipment and Engineering 
Co Ltd in Beijing 
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When I took the helm of CuDeco (then called Australian 
Mining Investments), it  had one of the lowest market 
caps of all stocks listed on the ASX. 
 
My job was to add value for shareholders...and I was 
pleased to see a modicum of support enter the stock as 
initial exploration started at Rocklands in late 2005/early 
2006, which also corresponded with the release of our 
maiden resource for Rocklands South in early May 2006. 
 
Just prior to the discovery of Las Minerale our share price 
had seen some modest gains, but was still trading at less 
than 40c for a market cap less than $20m...today, as the 
2012 Annual Report goes to press, our shares are trading 
at $4.77 (15-10-12) and our market cap is close to 
$890m. 
 
We are still undervalued in my mind...none the less my 
goal is to see us through to mining and paying healthy 
dividends. 
 
The last time the Rocklands area saw any form of mining 
activity was some 22 years ago at what was essentially a 
modest operation known as the Double Oxide Mine that 
ceased operations in 1990.  
 
Approximately 390 tonnes of native copper metal was 
extracted from just 890 tonnes of ore (average grade  
44% Cu). The owners were attracted to the unique and 
high-grade native copper, but mining depths were limited 
due to the shallow nature of the water table and 
assumption native copper was only likely to exist in 
shallow blankets at or near the water table as is usually 
the case. 
 
We now know native copper exists at Double Oxide (now 
known as Rocklands South) as deep as 100m from 
surface. 
 
Unknown to the old timers, and to many who have 
explored the area immediately around the old mine both 
prior and since, hidden just 1km to the north-west was a 
much larger high-grade native copper resource...now 
known as Las Minerale and the flagship ore-body of the 
Rocklands Project. 
 
At Las Minerale, large zones of open-pit minable coarse 
native copper continue from surface to depths of 150m, 
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Top; Pre-strip activities - relocation of organic material and 
topsoil in dedicated storage for later rehabilitation. 
 
Middle; excavator and dump trucks removing material from the 
second blast of the project during construction of the Water 
Diversion Channel. 
 
Above; water storage dam at the TSF...one of several being 
maintained across the project. 



and in some cases has even been intersected in drilling down to 220m 
vertically below surface. 
 
When looking at the extent of historic exploration activity in the area, it really is 
amazing Las Minerale was not found earlier. 
 
In the mining game, one man’s bad luck is another man’s good fortune and when my fellow 
director Tim Koitka (now deceased) and I witnessed the drill chips coming up from the discovery 
hole drilled into Las Minerale back in 2006, we could hardly believe the Company’s good fortune. 
 
It really is a shame that Tim will not be around to see our discovery become a mine. 
 
We have since drilled close to 400,000m of drilling, delineated a significant world-scale resource and 
conducted some 6 years of exhaustive metallurgical work culminating in the building and testing of a pilot-
scale plant. This knowledge has recently been transferred to the Process Plant design, various components 
of which are currently being fabricated.  
 
A unique and efficient mining schedule has been designed around exhaustive pit optimisation work, with the view 
to accessing as much of the high-grade native copper and chalcocite ore as possible in the initial years...this will 
allow decommissioning of the native copper circuit once the native copper ore has been depleted to reduce 
processing costs, after which the rest of the Process Plant will continue to treat sulphide ores unaffected. 
 
The goal is to generate as much income as possible in the early years of the project.  
 
In mining, people are everything and the value of employing experienced, hard-working and innovative staff is starting 
to directly translate into improved outcomes. I ask my staff to think outside the box...and this is evident in the fact we 
are currently some $16 million under budget compared to pre-development studies for the same stage of 
development....a trend I hope to see continue. 
 
The Company is confident it has designed the best possible recovery processes for the five products expected to be 
recovered at Rocklands; 
 

Copper - Cobalt - Gold - Sulphur - Magnetite 
 
These will be produced from the Rocklands Process Mill in four types of concentrate; 
 
Native Copper concentrate (>96% copper metal) 
 
Copper Sulphide concentrate (40% copper in initial years, 32% copper - life of mine average) 
 
Pyrite (cobalt-sulphur) concentrate (~1% cobalt, 50% sulphur) 
 
Magnetite concentrate (94% magnetite) 
 
It is one thing to produce a product cheaply and efficiently, but this will not amount to much if you 
cannot get it to market, to which end we are in the process of putting in place a well thought out 
logistics chain that does not rely on the infrastructure of others. 
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Clockwise from top left; Solid plug of native copper metal recovered from PQ sized (85mm) metallurgical diamond drill core; +40mm native 
copper concentrate produced during pilot plant test-work; magnetic separation of magnetite and; example of high-grade sulphide ore 
(chalcopyrite, chalcocite and pyrite), intersected in diamond drill core DODH069 (image shown from approximately 266-272m). 
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CuDeco’s three stage mill-to-market logistics process will include; 
 
Trucking concentrate in sealed environmentally safe containers from the Mill to 
the Company’s Multi-use Rail Load Facility in Cloncurry; 
 
Transporting the above containers by rail to the Port of Townsville via the Queensland Rail 
network and; 
 
Storage of concentrate in our large Port of Townsville Storage Facility (480,000 tonnes capacity) 
and/or loading of the concentrates directly on to ships bound for international markets via our Port of 
Townsville Ship-loading Facility (2,000 tonnes per hour capacity).  
 
Collectively, the Company’s loading and transportation facilities will represent one of the most 
environmentally friendly systems of minerals concentrate transportation yet built in Queensland. 
 
We look forward to the shipping of first concentrate product from the project. 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Wayne McCrae 
Chairman 
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Review of Operations 

Project development activities have commenced in earnest at the Company’s 100% owned Rocklands Group 
Copper Project, located in Cloncurry, Queensland, Australia (“Rocklands”), during the year ended 30 June 2012 
fuelled by the successful completion of the following key developments and highlights; 

Development and Mining 

Queensland Minister for Mines approved the grant of the 2,200Ha, 30 year term Mining Leases over Rocklands 
(ML90177 and ML90188). The project has been designed around a 480,000 tonne concentrate production rate 
per year, producing Copper, Gold, Cobalt, Pyrite, Magnetite and Native Copper minerals. Subsequently the 
Queensland Government granted a Mining Lease for the corridor between these two mining leases. The corridor 
Mining Lease will provide critical access for power supply to the tailings dewatering and return water pumps and 
pipelines between the process plant and the tailings dam. 

Compensation agreements with the landowner and the Cloncurry Shire Council were signed. 

Long lead items have been ordered and/or are currently under construction including: - 

 the Ball Mill, expected to be completed by the end of 2012; 

 Primary Jaw Crusher and two secondary Rolls Crushers, as part of the crushing circuit; and 

 The High-pressure Grinding Rolls (HPGR) and associated circuit which has been chosen in place of a Sag 
Mill due to the size of the native copper resource. This circuit will be combined with a 4.8MW Ball Mill 
grinding circuit, to deliver a final product to the flotation and concentrator circuits for recovery of sulphide ores 
and magnetite. 

Update on status of major componentry: - 

 Ball-mill (5800 diameter x 8300mm long) - ahead of schedule; 

 Alljigs® - on schedule; 

 High Pressure Grinding Rolls (HPGR) - on schedule;  

 Basic Engineering for the processing plant to be completed by 30 September, 2012 - on schedule; 

 Entered into a contract in February for $8 Million for a 3 Million tonne per annum primary crushing and tertiary 
crushing and screening plant. Crusher circuit on track for completion of commissioning by 23rd December, 
2012 - on schedule; 

 Signed major agreement in April for the supply of 100% of structural steel requirements for the Rocklands 
mineral processing plant. The supply agreement requires all steel to be pre-fabricated prior to export to 
Rocklands, which will reduce the expensive costs associated with the onsite fabrication, cutting and handling. 
Construction steel to be delivered in four shipments, the first on schedule for embarking China December, 
2012 and the last embarking March, 2013 - on schedule; and 

 Tenders have been called for the Process Control System - on schedule. 

 Third instalment of $US10 million paid in relation to the construction of its 3 million tonnes per annum mineral 
processing plant for the Rocklands Group Copper project, bringing the total paid to date $US30.9 million, of 
the original $US58 million.  

 In May the Port of Townsville Authority granted the Company Development Approval for the proposed 
400,000 tonne concentrate storage facility terminal and 2,000 tonnes per hour Ship-loading facility for the 
export of mineral concentrates to be produced from Rocklands. The proposed storage facility provides 
capacity to store the Company’s Native Copper Metal, Copper/Gold and Cobalt/Sulfur concentrates that will 
be produced and exported from Rocklands. 
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Review of Operations (continued) 
The Company received approval in April 2012 from the Queensland Government’s Department of Environment 
and Resource Management (DERM), for the Plan of Operations for Rocklands. The approval of the Plan of 
Operation is the final regulatory requirement to enable the development of Rocklands to formally commence, and 
is the culmination of more than six years work by the Company. 

Major site activity including the construction of major structures and service buildings, civil infrastructure and pit 
strip-back operations, and construction of accommodation and housing in Cloncurry has commenced.  

Exploration 

Las Minerale & Rocklands South 

Las Minerale is the Company’s flagship orebody, with a large supergene zone that continues from surface to 
170m deep in places, containing significant resources of coarse native copper and high-grade chalcocite. Las 
Minerale is one of a group of clustered, sub-parallel striking orebodies that will be collectively mined over the first 
10 years of planned mining operations at Rocklands. 

A geologically important diamond drill hole was drilled into Las Minerale in a section of the orebody where no 
diamond drilling had been completed. The purpose of the hole was to verify the grade of limited Reverse 
Circulation (RC) drilling data within this area and to provide valuable information for pit optimisation work. 
Previous drilling from this area was limited due to the existence of a water harvesting facility in the area, which 
was recently moved. The drill hole confirmed the grades of surrounding RC holes, but extended high-grade 
mineralisation 30m past the current planned pit depth, providing valuable information in this previously lightly 
drilled area. 

A deep diamond hole was drilled under Las Minerale, targeting interpreted extensions to high-grade 
mineralisation at depth and intersected grades and widths suitable for underground mining at Rocklands. Deep 
drilling was temporarily suspended due to the termination of a follow-up hole prior to reaching target due to the 
inability of the drill rig to drill below 800m. The hole will be re-entered, and further deep holes drilled, once a 
suitable rig is available.  

A number of heavily oxidised native copper nuggets (up to 80mm in size) were identified just 5m from surface 
during excavation of a deep costean in central Las Minerale. The native copper zone, (which includes all grain 
sizes), as defined in the current resource estimate, commences from approximately 15m from surface for the 
most part, with occasional zones as shallow as 8-10m from surface. Coarse native copper however is identified 
as commencing from approximately 20-25m depth, although some shallower zones do exist. 

The area defined as the “native copper domain” within the current resource block model, did not identify native 
copper to be present at the depths being targeted in the deep costean, suggesting the currently defined native 
copper zone may need to be expanded. 

In addition to native copper nuggets, soft “sooty” chalcocite mineralisation was identified throughout the entire 
oxide zone below 3m, and appears to be far more widespread than anticipated, particularly from 5m to the 
maximum depth of the costean at 12m. Assays for copper in these areas were previously thought to be mostly 
attributable to traditional oxide copper-ores. 

Chalcocite has not been identified above 14m in either RC or diamond drilling in the immediate area. Copper is 
more easily recovered from chalcocite ore than it is from traditional oxide ores (malachite/azurite), so the 
identification of more than anticipated chalcocite within the oxide zone may well result in an upgrade of overall 
copper recoveries from these zones. The extent of the chalcocite zone, as defined in the current resource 
estimate, may also need to be expanded. 
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Review of Operations (continued) 

Wilgar (diamond drilling) 

One of the most exciting prospects at the Rocklands Project, for which a resource estimate has not yet been 
completed, is the Wilgar Prospect. Significant zones of gold and silver are being intersected in diamond and 
bedrock drilling that is continuously expanding the size of the mineralised footprint. 

Some of the highest grades yet received from Wilgar were returned during the period, including 6m @ 185g/t Au 
which included a record intersection of 1090g/t Au intersected in DODH264. 

Wilgar (bedrock drilling) 

Bedrock drilling was completed with the Company’s owned Rotary Air Blast (RAB) drill rig. Each hole ends once 
it has drilled into approximately 1m of bedrock, which is typically encountered at depths of 2 to 14 metres at 
Wilgar. The bedrock holes are drilled at close spacing and are designed to pinpoint with accuracy the positioning 
of subsequent diamond holes, which are expensive to drill. Bedrock drilling continued over the 6 months period 
with outstanding results with grades up to; 

Gold: 39.1g/t Au 
Silver: 350g/t Ag 
Molybdenum: 6460ppm Mo 
Uranium: 13,700ppm U 
Tellurium: 990ppm Te 

Fairfield prospect 

The Fairfield prospect is characterised by encouraging geophysical anomalies, such as Sub Audio Magnetics 
(SAM) EQMMR (Conductivity) high and magnetic-high anomalies. The SAM survey has proved extremely 
successful in application and exploration in other parts of the Rocklands Mining Lease, and has been 
instrumental in the extensional drilling of the Rocklands ore bodies. 

Historic records reveal historic mining at Fairfield produced 1,118 tonnes of ore at an average grade of 6.50% Cu 
from 1968-1972. Workings evident today include an open cut pit to a depth of approximately 15m with exposed 
copper oxide minerals (malachite, azurite) clearly evident on the pit walls. CuDeco has drilled several Diamond 
and Reverse Circulation (RC) drill holes beneath the old pit, based on surface mapping and interpretation of 
mineralisation observed from the pit walls, all of which have intersected high-grade mineralisation. 

A resource estimate has not yet been prepared for Fairfield, which will potentially add additional tonnes to 
supplement the high-grade inventory planned to be processed at Rocklands. 

Recent exploration success has highlighted that the Fairfield Project contains a zone of mineralisation of 
sufficient grade, to warrant inclusion in the Rocklands Resource Inventory. Current plans are to add Fairfield to 
the Rocklands Resource Inventory as High-grade Supplementary Feed to Rocklands. 
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Review of Operations (continued) 

Large IOCC Style Geophysical Anomaly 

The observed mineralisation in several diamond drill holes in the north-west of the Rocklands Mining Lease 
(ML90177), are consistent with “Rocklands Style Mineralisation” in terms of mineralogy, host rock, alteration 
assemblage and mineralising style. However they are unique in that mineralisation has been intersected within a 
dolerite intrusion in the Corella Formation. Prior to these intersections, “Rockland’s Style Mineralisation” has only 
been encountered within the overhang Jaspilite unit at Rocklands.  

It is thought mineralisation being encountered is potentially peripheral to hidden structures that could host 
hydrothermal breccias or shear zones, not encountered to date, the surface expression of which are likely to be 
hidden by the relatively shallow Corella unit now identified to exist in this area.  

The North-west Prospect corresponds with a coincident, large east-dipping gravity-high anomaly and magnetic-
high anomaly, and is a major IOCG target. 

A significant RC programme designed to cover a large area is planned for the North-west Prospect, which is 
potentially highly-prospective over a very large area and would be impractical to fully explore with diamond 
drilling alone. 

South-west Corner Prospect 

The south-west area of the Rocklands Mining Lease (ML90177) remains relatively unexplored and has long been 
an area of interest for the exploration team due to numerous geophysical and geochemical anomalies, and 
potentially prospective geology. 

Due to commitments in other areas of Rocklands, and the large scale nature of the south-west anomalies, a 
decision was made to postpone advanced exploration in this area until such time as a comprehensive 
programme could commence, without the need to take drill-rigs away from resource and geotechnical based 
drilling activities, important for development of Rocklands. 

In the meantime, a substantial geophysical database has been compiled for the area and towards the end of 
2011, geochemical (soil sampling), programmes were completed. 

A series of short (approximately 100m) reconnaissance diamond drill holes were completed in 2011 primarily 
targeting shallow IP anomalies. Pyrite and pyrrhotite was intersected in calcite rich sedimentary unit, but not in 
sufficient quantities to explain high-intensity of anomalies. 

Amphibolite Unit 

A unit of massive amphibolite, (medium-high temperature metamorphic rock), has been observed in the far south 
of the Mining Lease, throughout which anomalous disseminated copper mineralisation has been observed, 
suggesting it may have been altered by a mineralising metamorphic-hydrothermal system.  

The surface outcropping material appears to be of low magnetic content, however the identified zone generally 
corresponds with a magnetic high response in several geophysical surveys, suggesting the unit may be underlain 
by a magnetite rich rock type. A moderate to low-level Sub-audio Magnetic (SAM), EQMMR (conductivity) 
anomaly also coincides with the identified zone.  

Sample rock-chips from outcrop, within as little as 10cm from surface, can be readily found containing 
disseminated copper oxide mineralisation, from trace up to 1.4% Cu using hand-held XRF, over an exposed 
width of approximately 150m.  
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Review of Operations (continued) 

A significant RC programme is also planned for the both the South-west and Amphibolite Prospects, which 
collectively cover a very large area and would be impractical to fully explore with diamond drilling alone. 

Exploration to Begin on New EPM18054  

Preliminary desk-top investigations have been completed over the Company’s new Exploration Permit 
EPM18054, located immediately south-west of the Rocklands. EPM18054 shares a common boundary point with 
the Company’s existing Mining Leases, and provides both strategic significance and exploration attraction. 

There are no records of previous drilling activity within the new EPM area, however historic drilling campaigns 
have been conducted adjacent to the western boundary, where minor and significant intersections of both copper 
and gold were encountered, and to the north, where zinc was encountered.  

Previous workings and mining leases are known in EPM18054, covering multiple commodities. Initial ground 
reconnaissance has discovered copper minerals malachite and chalcopyrite at various locations, however for the 
most part there appears to be limited outcrop over vast alluvial plains, potentially obscuring mineralised 
structures.  

Corporate 

The Company completed a capital raising in December 2011 of $86.3 Million through the issue of 23,977,000 
shares at a price of $3.60 per share with New Apex Asia Investment Limited, a Hong Kong Based Resource 
Fund. 

The Company completed a capital raising in January 2012 of $32 Million through the issue of 8,000,000 shares 
at a price of $4.00 per share, principally with M&G Investments. 

In March 2012 the Company completed its first national road-show in over six years. The visit included lead 

brokers, analysts, fund managers, institutions and large shareholders in Sydney, Melbourne and Brisbane.   

In April 2012 the Company appointed Mr. Hongwei Liu as a new Non-Executive Director of CuDeco Limited.  

The Company’s on-market 12 month share buy-back programme that was announced on 31 May 2011 has 
ended. Under this programme a total of 11,333,453 shares were bought at an average price of $3.26 per share. 

Sinosteel Equipment and Engineering Co Ltd (“Sinosteel”), one of China’s largest state owned enterprises, and 
supplier of the componentry for the processing plant for the Rocklands Project, agreed to exercise an option to 
receive CuDeco shares in lieu of cash for additional/alternative componentry ordered for the Rocklands 3mtpa 
process plant. Sinosteel will be issued 3,333,333 fully paid shares at an issue price of $3.90 per share, in lieu of 
$13m cash. 

Key representatives of the Company embarked on an international road-show, including visits with various funds, 
institutions and commodity investment groups throughout Hong Kong, London, Toronto and New York. A total of 
60 meetings were conducted in four countries over 15 days. 

The Company acquired additional office space in Southport for $360,000 in anticipation of the planned expansion 
of the group’s operations. 
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Events Subsequent To Balance Date 

1. Coarse native copper has been intersected in bedrock drilling approximately 50m offset to the southern side 
of Las Minerale, during shallow infill bedrock drilling. The area is a new zone within the existing starter-pit outline, 
previously not considered to host native copper, and represents additional “free dig” ore not presently accounted 
for. The mineralised area is thought to be typical of zones that have been omitted from the resource estimate due 
to drilling “voids”, often immediately adjacent to the vertical orebody. 

The bedrock infill drilling programme is designed to test the existence of copper minerals potentially missed in 
surface material (to 25m depth), adjacent to Las Minerale and Rocklands South orebodies, and is ongoing. 

2. Fairfield Diamond Drill Hole DODH443 intersected significant zones of massive and semi-massive chalcocite, 
and zones of chalcopyrite, bornite and pyrite; 
DODH443 intersected; 18m @ 5.31% CuEq 
Including; 5m @ 7.78% CuEq 
Within a wider copper-dominated zone of; 25m @ 3.96% CuEq 

Fairfield is one of several prospects at Rocklands for which a resource estimate has not yet been completed and 
will potentially add to high-grade inventory to be processed through the Rocklands Plant. 

3. The consolidated entity has provided an environmental rehabilitation guarantee to the Department of Natural 
Resources and Mines for $1,922,464, as a condition of its mining leases for the Rocklands Project. 

4. In September 2012, the consolidated entity and the Port of Townsville Limited, signed a Lease for 1.506 ha of 
land at the Port of Townsville. The Lease formalises an option to lease CuDeco previously had over the land. The 
Lease allows construction and operation of a bulk materials receival, storage and export facility.  

5. In July, 2012, the Company signed a joint memorandum of understanding with Xstrata Copper and Minmetals 
Group, for the joint development of the Company’s Multi-user Rail Load-out Facility. The agreement highlights 
the Company’s foresight in recognising the need for enhanced regional infrastructure and taking the necessary 
steps to address the issue more than 12 months ago.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 

The Directors present their report together with the financial report of CuDeco Limited (the “Company”) and its 
controlled entities (the “Consolidated Entity”) for the year ended 30 June 2012. CuDeco Limited is a listed 
public company incorporated in and domiciled in Australia. 
 
DIRECTORS 

The Directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 

Wayne Michael McCrae 
Executive Chairman 
(Director since 2002) 

Wayne McCrae (64 years) has been involved in the mining industry for 
most of his adult life. Wayne’s experience is bringing grass roots 
operations to production, and he has been involved with exploration for 
and / or production of gold, copper, silver, lead, zinc, coal and 
diamonds. 

  

Peter Robert Hutchison 
MRACI Ch Chem 
Executive Director 
(Director since 2004) 

Peter Hutchison (63 years) is a process chemist with over 35 years 
industry experience involving the chemical, mineral processing and 
water treatment businesses. He was responsible for the operations and 
handover of the Mt Norma project and is the Site Senior Executive and 
responsible for the metallurgical development work and other aspects 
of the Definitive Feasibility Study, for the Rocklands Copper Project. 

  

Vitie Paul Keran 
B.App.Sc., B.E. (Chemical), 
Dip. B.A. 
Independent, Non-Executive 
Director 
(Director since 2007) 

Paul Keran (69 years) is a chemical engineer with more than 30 years 
experience in the resource sector in Australia and internationally, in 
senior operations management and project development roles in base 
metals mineral processing, smelting and technology development. He 
was previously with MIM Holdings as General Manager - Group 
Metallurgical Development and Metallurgical Works Manager at Mt Isa. 
He also completed technical assessment and development of the US 
$1 billion Alumbrera copper/gold project in Argentina. 

  

Gerald Adrian Lambert 
ACA MAICD BCom(Hnrs) 
Independent, Non-Executive 
Director  
(Director since 2010) 

Gerald (Gerry) Lambert (59 years) has had a 30 year corporate career 
with expertise/experience in the financial, strategic, 
systems/compliance, management and human resource areas. He has 
held key financial roles in both listed and unlisted companies in the 
mining and exploration, property development and construction 
industries. Mr Lambert is a non-executive Director of Boystown, a 
national charitable organisation and has previously been a 
director/CFO of Villa World Limited and a director of City Resources 
Limited. Mr Lambert is a Chartered Accountant and has also been a 
lecturer/tutor at the University of Wollongong. Mr Lambert is the Lead 
Independent Director and the Chairman of the audit committee. 

  

David John Edward Taylor 
B.A. LL.B. 
Independent, Non-Executive 
Director 
(Director since 2009) 

David J. E. Taylor (28 years) is a Solicitor with admissions in the 
Supreme Court of Queensland and High Court of Australia. He is 
experienced within the field of civil litigation where he provides wide-
ranging advice to clients of the law firm, Taylors. He holds bachelor 
degrees in Law and Arts from Bond University, with a specialisation in 
Legal Practice. Mr Taylor is the Chairman of the remuneration 
committee. 
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DIRECTORS (continued) 

Zhijun Ma  
Independent Non-
Executive Director 
(Director since 2011) 

Mr Zhijun Ma (41 years) is a graduate from Engineering Management 
Tianjin University with a bachelor degree. Mr Ma is a specialised 
professional economist and during his career has been involved in a 
number of major investment projects covering a wide range of areas 
including finance, energy and real estate. Mr Ma is currently the 
Chairman on Minseng Investment Management Holdings Co Limited, 
and director of the Guangxi Bank and Minseng Securities Co., Ltd He 
was a former director and general manager of Oceanwide 
International Resource Co Limited and was responsible for this 
company’s investments for overseas projects especially within the 
energy and resources sectors. 

Hongwei Liu  
Non-Executive Director 

(Appointed 4 April 
2012) 

Mr Liu (45 years) of is a graduate from Mechanical Design and 
Manufacturing Dalian Ocean University with a bachelor degree, and a 
master degree of Management from Massey University New Zealand.  
He is specialized in professional management and administration and 
during his career has been involved in a number of major investment 
projects covering a wide range of areas including finance and energy. 

Mr. Liu is a director of Oceanwide International Resources Investment 
Co., Ltd and is responsible for this company's investments for 
overseas projects especially within the finance, energy and resource 
sectors. He is also currently the Managing Director of Minsheng 
Investment Management Holdings Co Limited. 

None of the Company’s Directors have held office as directors of other public listed companies in the three year 
period ended 30 June 2012 (except as disclosed above). 

COMPANY SECRETARY 

Bruno Joseph Bamonte 

(Appointed June 2011) 

Bruno Bamonte (aged 54 years) is an Australian Chartered Accountant and has more than 16 years of 
experience in the listed company area in roles ranging from Company Secretary to Finance Director. 

BOARD COMPOSITION 

The Board comprises seven Directors, five of whom are considered non-executive and four of whom meet the 
board’s criteria to be considered independent. An independent director is a non-executive director who is not a 
member of management and who is free of any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with, 
or could reasonable be perceived to materially interfere with the independent exercise of their judgement. For a 
director to be considered independent, they must meet all of the following materiality thresholds: - 

 is not a substantial shareholder of the company or an officer of or otherwise associated directly with, a 
substantial shareholder of the Company; 

 not benefit, directly or through a related person or entity, from any sales to or purchases from the Company 
or any of its related entities; 

 not derive significant income (more than 10% of the director’s total income) either directly or indirectly 
through a related person or entity from a contract with the Company or any of its related entities.  
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DIRECTORS (continued) 

The Company has an Executive Chairman, which the company believes is appropriate given its size and its stage of 
development and the invaluable experience the Executive Chairman provides to the company. The Board has also 
since the end of the financial year appointed a Lead Independent Director to serve in a lead capacity to coordinate 
the activities of the other Independent Directors and to perform such other duties and responsibilities as the Board of 
Directors may determine. The Lead Independent Director when acting as such shall have the following specific 
responsibilities:  

 Provide the Chairman with input as to the preparation of the agendas for the Board of Directors' and Board 
Committee meetings;  

 Provide the Chairman with input as to the quality, quantity and timeliness of the information submitted by the 
Company’s management that is necessary or appropriate for the Independent Directors to effectively and 
responsibly perform their duties;  

 Assist the Board of Directors to improve its compliance with Corporate Governance Issues; 

 Serve as principal liaison between the Independent Directors and the Chairman on sensitive issues; 

 Make recommendations to the Board of Directors on behalf of the Independent Directors; and  

 Undertake such further responsibilities that the Independent Directors as a whole may designate to the Lead 
Independent Director from time to time. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activity of the Consolidated Entity during the course of the financial year was mineral exploration 
evaluation and development, primarily of the Rocklands Group Copper Project in Cloncurry, Queensland. 

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS 

The profit (loss) after tax for the year ended 30 June 2012 was $776,899 (30 June 2011: $(3,643,009)). The 
significant items that contributed to the result were; 

 Interest received    $4,817,798 

 Foreign exchange gain  $1,206,802 

 Employee expenses   $4,281,270 

No dividends were paid during the year and the Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

A review of operations of the Consolidated Entity during the year ended 30 June 2012 and the results of those 
operations is set out on pages 42 to 47 and forms part of this Directors’ Report. 
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 

The following significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity occurred during the year: 

 The Company raised $118,317,200 (before costs) throughout the year through the placement of 31,977,000 
ordinary shares. This represents an average price of $3.70; 

 The Company bought back 10,519,281 ordinary shares pursuant to the Company’s on-market share buy-
back scheme and loan funded employee share plan. These shares were bought back at a total cost of 
approximately $35.2 Million, representing an average price of $3.35; 

 The Consolidated Entity has continued towards the development of the Rocklands project and during the 
year expended approximately $25.1 Million on the proposed processing plant and approximately $6.2 Million 
on mine development expenditure. 

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of 
the Consolidated Entity, in future financial years other than: 

1. The consolidated entity has provided an environmental rehabilitation guarantee to the Department of Natural 
Resources and Mines for $1,922,464, as a condition of its mining leases for the Rocklands Project. 

2. In September 2012, the consolidated entity and the Port of Townsville Limited, signed a Lease for 1.506 ha of 
land at the Port of Townsville. The Lease formalises an option to lease CuDeco previously had over the land. 
The Lease allows construction and operation of a bulk materials receival, storage and export facility.  

3. In July, 2012, the Company signed a joint memorandum of understanding with Xstrata Copper and Minmetals 
Group, for the joint development of the Company’s Multi-user Rail Load-out Facility. The agreement 
highlights the Company’s foresight in recognising the need for enhanced regional infrastructure and taking 
the necessary steps to address the issue more than 12 months ago.  

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS 

The Consolidated Entity will continue exploration, evaluation and development of its Rocklands Group Copper 
Project. Further commentary on likely developments over the forthcoming year is provided in the “Review of 
Operations”.   
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 
The number of meetings of the Company’s Directors and the number of meetings attended by each Director during the 
year ended 30 June 2012 are: 

 Full meetings of directors Meetings of committees 
   Audit Remuneration 
 A B A B A B 

W McCrae 6 6 * * * * 
P Hutchison  6 6 * * * * 
P Keran 6 6 2 2 1 1 
G Lambert 6 6 2 2 1 1 
D Taylor  6 6 2 2 1 1 
Z Ma  3 6 * * * * 
H Liu 1 1 * * * * 

A = Number of meetings attended 

B = Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the committee during the 
year 

* = Not a member of the relevant committee  

There were six Directors’ meetings held during the year. However, matters of board business have also been resolved 
by circular resolutions of Directors, which are a record of decisions made at a number of informal meetings of the 
Directors. 

The audit committee consists of G Lambert (Chairman), P Keran and D Taylor. The remuneration committee consists 
of D Taylor (Chairman), P Keran and G Lambert. 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 

The relevant interest of each Director in the shares, options or other instruments issued by the Company, as notified by 
the Directors to the ASX Ltd in accordance with S205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as 
follows: 
 CuDeco Limited 

 Fully Paid 
 ordinary shares 

Shares issued 
pursuant to Loan 
funded share plan 

Options over ordinary 
shares 

W McCrae 10,120,906 250,000 - 
P Hutchison 1,032,534 250,000 2,500,000 
P Keran  70,000 100,000 100,000 
G Lambert 20,000 100,000 - 
D Taylor 32,000 100,000 100,000 
Z Ma  - - - 
H Liu 23,000 - - 
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SHARE OPTIONS 

As at the date of this report, there were 3,585,000 (2011: 6,825,000) unissued ordinary shares under option. 
 Number Exercise Price Expiry Date 

Directors Unlisted Options  2,700,000 $6.50 31 December 2012 
Employee Unlisted Options 100,000 $4.50 22 February 2013 
Employee Unlisted Options 225,000 $2.50 15 September 2013 
Consultants Unlisted Options 560,000 $2.50 15 September 2013 

During or since the end of the financial year: - 

a.  The following options were exercised 

 300,000 employee options were exercised at $2.50 each resulting in the issue of 300,000 ordinary shares 
by the Company; 

 100,000 consultant options were exercised at $3.50 each resulting in the issue of 100,000 ordinary 
shares by the Company; and 

 40,000 consultant options were exercised at $2.50 each resulting in the issue of 40,000 ordinary shares 
by the Company. 

b. 250,000 employee options exercisable at $4.00 each – expiry date 31 July 2012 were forfeited due to the 
employee leaving the company.  

c. The following options expired:-  

 200,000 consultant options exercisable at $3.50 each – expiry date 10 June 2012 

 2,150,000 employee options exercisable at $4.00 each – expiry date 31 July 2012 

 200,000 employee options exercisable at $4.50 each – expiry date 31 July 2012 

No new options were granted during the year. 

No option holder has any other rights to participate in any other share issue of the Company or of any other entity. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT - AUDITED 
  
This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for the following Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) of 
CuDeco Limited during or since the end of the financial year.  
 
Executive Directors Non-Executive Directors 
Wayne McCrae Paul Keran 
Peter Hutchison Gerald Lambert 
 David Taylor 
Other Senior Management Zhijun Ma  
Noel Everon - Project Manager (Appointed 10 October 2011) Hongwei Liu (Appointed 4 April 2012) 
Ian Carroll - Mine Manager (Appointed 20 February 2012)  
Wade Freeman - Process Manager (Appointed 9 January 2012)  

There have been no changes in KMP after the reporting date to the date the financial report was authorised for issue 
other than as follows:- 

a. The appointment of Kamlesh Ramdeo on 9 July 2012 as the Commercial Manager for the Company. She will 
oversee all financial and commercial areas and functions for the Rocklands project and any associated 
infrastructure projects; 

b. The departure of Noel Everon as the Project Manager on 21 September 2012; and  
c. The departure of Ian Carroll as Mine Manager on 9 July 2012. 

Remuneration Policy 

The Board is responsible for determining remuneration policies applicable to the key management personnel. The 
remuneration must be commercially reasonable to attract, retain and motivate these people in order to achieve the 
Consolidated Entity’s objectives. When considered necessary, independent advice on the appropriateness of 
remuneration packages is obtained. No recommendations were made by independent remuneration consultants during 
the year. 

The remuneration of key management personnel is primarily settled with cash. At times remuneration may be by way of 
shares or options over shares. Remuneration of this kind helps motivate key management personnel in line with the 
Consolidated Entity’s objectives. 

Incentives may be provided to reward key management personnel for achievement of targets aligned with the 
Consolidated Entity’s objectives. These incentives are likely to consist of shares in the Company, options for shares to 
align their interests with the medium to long term interests of shareholders, or cash bonuses.  

Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee is a formally constituted remuneration committee, comprising non-executive independent 
Directors Mr. Taylor (Chairman), Mr. Lambert and Mr. Keran. The Committee’s terms of reference include the following 
duties: 

 reviewing the remuneration guidelines for executive Directors, including base salary, bonuses, share options, 
salary packaging and final contractual agreements. 

 reviewing non-executive directors fees and costs by seeking external benchmarks. 

Equity components of remuneration for any of the Directors, including the issue of shares and/or options, are required to 
be approved by shareholders prior to award. 

The Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of key management personnel 
on a periodical basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring 
maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality board and management team.  
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REMUNERATION REPORT - AUDITED (continued)  
 
Directors and Executives Remuneration 

Objective 
The Consolidated Entity aims to reward the Directors and executives with a level of remuneration commensurate 
with their position and responsibilities within the Consolidated Entity and so as to: 

 align the interests of the Directors and executives with those of shareholders; 

 link reward with the strategic goals and performance of the Consolidated Entity; and 

 ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 

Structure 
Remuneration consists of the following key elements: 

 Fixed remuneration 

 Variable Remuneration 

Fixed Remuneration 

The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration which is both appropriate to 
the position and is competitive in the market. 

Fixed remuneration of executive Directors and other executives is reviewed annually by the Remuneration 
Committee and the process consists of a review of company, business unit and individual performance, relevant 
comparative remuneration in the market and internal and, where appropriate, external advice on policies and 
practice. When considered necessary independent advice on the appropriateness of remuneration packages is 
obtained. 

At the 2010 Annual General Meeting shareholders approved a pool of $300,000 per annum for non-executive 
directors’ fees. Annual remuneration of non-executive Directors is $50,000 plus superannuation at the statutory 
guarantee level. In addition non-executive Directors providing services to the Consolidated Entity outside the 
scope of their duties as Directors will be entitled to receive fees at an hourly rate.  

The Remuneration Committee reviews the remuneration packages applicable to the non-executive Directors on 
an annual basis.  The Board considers fees paid to non-executive Directors of comparable companies when 
undertaking the annual review process. 

Variable Remuneration – Long Term Incentive (LTI) 

Objective 

The objective of the LTI plan is to reward Directors and executives in a manner which aligns this element of 
remuneration with the creation of shareholder wealth. As such LTI grants are only made to Directors and key 
executives as their performance will influence the generation of shareholder wealth and thus have a direct impact 
on the Consolidated Entity’s performance. 

Structure 

Prior to this financial year LTI grants to Directors and executives were delivered in the form of options. No options 
were granted to any of the Directors during the year.  

This financial year the company has proposed that LTI take the form of share issues through a loan funded share 
plan. The issue of equity as part of the remuneration packages of Directors and executives is an established 
practice of public listed companies and, in the case of the Consolidated Entity, has the benefit of conserving cash 
whilst properly rewarding each of the Directors and executives.  

  



Page 56 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

 

 
REMUNERATION REPORT - AUDITED (continued) 
 

Employment Contracts – Executive Directors 

Formal employment contracts for the executive Directors have been in place since 31 March 2008. Under these 
contracts the annual base salaries of the executive Directors are as follows: 

    Base Salary 

   $ 

Superannuation 

$ 

W McCrae 840,000 50,000 

P Hutchison 630,000 50,000 

These executive Directors are also entitled to 20 days annual leave and an entitlement to long service leave 
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the relevant legislation. Employment contracts are unlimited in term 
however either party may elect to terminate the agreed arrangements by the giving of three (3) months’ notice. 

In the case of the Consolidated Entity terminating employment, causing redundancy or change in the employees’ 
job content, status or responsibility due to a change in control, the executive employee is entitled to the maximum 
amount of compensation allowable under the Corporations Act. Current employment contracts do not provide for 
any other remuneration benefits other than as disclosed herein.  

These executive Directors are also entitled to receive bonuses based on their performance during each year. The 
maximum amount of the bonus payable each year is the equivalent of 50% of their base salary for that year. The 
Remuneration committee review the performance of the Executive Directors and make recommendations to the 
Board as to the quantum of the bonuses to be paid. For the year ended 30 June 2012, the bonuses paid 
represented 80% of the maximum allowable and the remainder of any maximum allowable bonus was forfeited. 
The following bonuses were granted on 16 July 2012 as follows:- 

Wayne McCrae  $336,000 
   Peter Hutchison  $252,000 

The performance of the Consolidated Entity over the past five years is summarised as follows:- 

 30 June 
2012 

30 June 
2011 

30 June 
2010 

30 June 
2009 

30 June 
2008 

Share price $3.20 $3.30 $4.60 $3.50 $2.80 

Profit (loss) $776,899 ($3,643,009) ($5,138,795) ($5,518,515) 860,410 

Dividends - - - - - 

Return of 
capital (1) 

- - - - - 

Note (1) - Although there was no return of capital, the Company conducted as part of its capital management plan, 
a share buy-back programme that was completed on 31 May 2012, effectively buying back shares that were 
considered under-valued. Under this programme a total of 11,333,453 shares were bought at an average price of 
$3.26 per share. During the same period, the Company issued 31.9 Million shares at an average price of more than 
$3.79 per share. 

As the Consolidated Entity is still in the exploration and development stage it is not anticipated that there is a link 
between remuneration, company profitability and shareholder wealth. At this stage of its development the Company 
is not expected to be profitable. Therefore the performance of the executives was assessed against the milestones 
needed to advance the company’s Rocklands project to development, after which time the profitability is expected 
to be significant. Due to the continued progress made by the Consolidated Entity during the year towards 
production, and the achievement of these key milestones, cash bonuses were paid to the executive Directors as 
outlined above.   
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Employment Contracts – Executive Directors 
The significant key performance conditions met during the financial year include:- 

 Development Permit from DERM and POTL Development Approval for the Export facility in Townsville;  

 Management of exploration programme with new zone of mineralisation identified at Wilgar, Fairfield and Las 
Minerales; 

 Primary and tertiary crushing circuit design, purchase and fabrication and construction awarded to EMS 
Index; 

 Placement of 8,000,000 shares at $4.00 per share (premium to share price) to raise $32 million;  

 Placement of 23,977,000 shares at $3.60 per share (premium to share price) to raise $86,317,200; 

 Plan of Operation for the Rocklands project approved;  

 Mining Lease and Environmental Authority approval received for the Rocklands Project;  

 Compensation agreements finalised with Landowner and Cloncurry Shire Council; and 

 The performance of the company’s share price relative to the general market. 

Employment Contracts – Other Executives 

Noel Everon held the position of Project Manager and Operations Manager designate for the Rocklands Group 
Copper Project. He joined the Company on 10 October 2011 on a 38 Month contract. His employment contract 
included remuneration of $220,000 per annum, plus 9% superannuation, use of a motor vehicle and 
accommodation in Cloncurry. He was employed on a six month probationary period, after which the contract was 
able to be terminated by either party by providing one month’s notice. There are no further entitlements to the 
executive on the termination of his agreement. 

Ian Carroll held the position of Mine Manager and he joined the Company on 20 February 2012 on a three year 
contract. His employment contract included remuneration of $230,000 per annum, plus 9% superannuation, use 
of a motor vehicle and accommodation in Cloncurry. He was employed on a six month probationary period, after 
which the contract was able to be terminated by either party by providing one month’s notice. There are no 
further entitlements to the executive on the termination of his agreement. 

Wade Freeman is the Process Manager and he joined the Company on 9 January 2012 on a three year contract. 
His employment contract includes remuneration of $180,000 per annum, plus 11.5% superannuation, use of a 
motor vehicle and accommodation in Cloncurry. He was employed on a six month probationary period, after 
which the contract is able to be terminated by either party by providing one month’s notice. There are no further 
entitlements to the executive on the termination of his agreement. 

Kamlesh Ramdeo is the Commercial Manager and she joined the Company on 9 July 2012 on a three year 
contract. Her employment contract includes remuneration payable at $170,000 per annum, plus 9% 
superannuation. She was employed on a six month probationary period, after which the contract is able to be 
terminated by either party by providing one month’s notice. There are no further entitlements to the executive on 
the termination of her agreement. 
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The remuneration for the key management personnel, including Directors, of the Company during the 
year was as follows: 
  

Short-Term 
Benefits 

Post 
Employ-

ment 
Share-Based 

Payments 
Other Long-

Term Benefits 

 

% of Total 

Director/ Executive  

Salary / 
Fees 

$ 

Cash 
Bonuses 

$ 
Super 

 $ 

Value of 
options (1) 

$ 

Increase in 
Long Service 

Leave 
Provision 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Perfor-
mance 
related 

Paid as 
Options1 

W McCrae 2012 840,000 336,000 50,000 231,146 16,196 1,473,342 23% 16% 
 2011 800,000 100,000 50,000 - 14,816 964,816 10% - 
P Hutchison 2012 630,000 252,000 50,000 231,146 9,163 1,172,309 21% 20% 
 2011 600,000 225,000 50,000 - 11,067 886,067 25% - 
P Keran 2012 50,000 - 4,500 92,458 - 146,958 - 63% 
 2011 45,000 - 4,050 - - 49,050 - - 
G Lambert  2012 50,000 - 4,500 92,458 - 146,958 - 63% 
 2011 45,000 - 4,050 - - 49,050 - - 
D Taylor  2012 50,000 - 4,500 92,458 - 146,958 - 63% 
 2011 45,000 - 4,050 - - 49,050 - - 
Zhijun Ma  2012 48,082 - - - - 48,082 - - 
 2011 - - - - - - - - 
H Liu (Appointed 4 April 
2012) 

2012 10,875 - - - - 10,875 - - 

2011 - - - - - - - - 

Noel Everon (Appointed 
10 October 2011) 

2012 147,332 - 13,260 - - 160,592 - - 

2011 - - - - - - - - 

Ian Carroll (Appointed 20 
February 2012) 

2012 76,962 - 6,927 - - 83,889 - - 

2011 - - - - - - - - 

Wade Freeman 
(Appointed 9 January 
2012) 

2012 82,241 - 9,482 - - 91,723 - - 

2011 - - - - - - - - 

Ian Hunt (resigned 30 
June 2011) 

2012 - - - - - - - - 

2011 180,000 - 27,000 - - 207,000 - - 

Total 2012 1,985,492 588,000 143,169 739,666 25,359 3,482,019   
 2011 1,715,000 325,000 139,150 - 25,883 2,205,033   

 

1 Shares issued pursuant to the loan funded employee share plan are treated as in-substance options. 
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The board’s current policy does not allow Directors and executives to limit their risk exposure in relation to 
equities or options without the approval of the board. 

Compensation options exercised during the year 

No equity instruments were issued during the year to key management personnel as a result of options exercised 
that had previously been granted as compensation. 

Options (Loan Funded Shares) granted during the year end  

Shares were issued pursuant to the Loan Funded Share plan. Under the terms and conditions of the plan the 
participants are loaned the value of the shares at the date of their allocation and the shares are held in trust until 
the loan is repaid. The loan is a non-interest bearing loan and any recourse is limited to the value of the shares. 
The shares issued to the Directors were issued on 23 December 2011 at $3.78 per share being the weighted 
average of the share price over the five trading days before the shares were allocated.  The loan funded shares 
for accounting purposes are considered to be an in-substance option and are treated as such in the accounts. 
50% of the shares will vest on the first anniversary of their allocation and the balance will vest on the second 
anniversary of their allocation. The recipients of the shares have five years from the date of their issue to repay 
the loans. This allocation was approved by the shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Meeting held 
on 24 November 2011. The plan was introduced to align the interests of key management personnel with those 
of shareholders. The vesting of shares is not dependent on any performance condition, only service conditions. 

The number of shares allocated to KMP is as follows:- 

                 No of 
Shares 

Allocated 

No of 
Shares 
vested 

Exercise 
price 

Weighted 
Average fair 

value per 
share (1) 

Total 
amount of 

Loan 

Expiry 
date 

Dates of exercise 

W McCrae 250,000 - $3.78 $2.245 $945,000 23/12/17 23/12/12 to 23/12/13 

P Hutchison 250,000 - $3.78 $2.245 $945,000 23/12/17 23/12/12 to 23/12/13 

P Keran 100,000 - $3.78 $2.245 $378,000 23/12/17 23/12/12 to 23/12/13 

G Lambert 100,000 - $3.78 $2.245 $378,000 23/12/17 23/12/12 to 23/12/13 

D Taylor 100,000 - $3.78 $2.245 $378,000 23/12/17 23/12/12 to 23/12/13 

N. Everon - - - - - - - 

I. Carroll - - - - - - - 

W. Freeman - - - - - - - 

(1) The weighted average fair value of the shares has been calculated by using the Black-Scholes valuation 
method  
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Options (Loan Funded Shares) granted since year end  

The Company has not granted any options over unissued ordinary shares in CuDeco Limited since the end of the 
financial year to any key management personnel or executives as part of their remuneration. 

Results of 2011 Annual General Meeting 

At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 24 November 2011, the remuneration report was 
approved by less than 75% of the shareholders eligible to vote. As a result, under the Corporations Act, if at the 
2012 Annual General Meeting less than 75% of the eligible shareholders do not approve the report, a spill motion 
will be considered by the meeting, to determine whether the position of all Directors, excluding the Chief 
Executive Officer, becomes vacant and the election of Directors will be considered by the meeting.  

The Directors have discussed the results of the vote, taking into account input from a number of institutional 
shareholders and has consequently provided a more detailed disclosure in this year’s report. 
 
 

This is the end of the audited remuneration report
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ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 

There are significant regulations under the environmental and mining laws and regulations of Queensland that 
apply to the exploration and mining tenements the Consolidated Entity holds in that State, including license 
requirements relating to ground disturbance, rehabilitation and waste disposal. 

The Directors believe that the Consolidated Entity has adequate systems in place for management of its 
environmental requirements in relation to all its tenement holdings and are not aware of any significant breaches 
of these environmental requirements during the period covered by this report. 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS 

During the financial year, CuDeco Ltd paid a premium of $26,591 (2011: $26,629) to insure the Directors and 
officers of the Company. 

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be 
brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of entities in the Group, and any other payments ar ising 
from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings. This does not include such liabilities 
that arise from conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use by the officers of their 
position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to the 
company.  

The Company has not indemnified or insured its auditor. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of the 
Company support and have adhered to the principles of corporate governance, except where disclosed in the 
corporate governance statement.  

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Consolidated Entity, or to 
intervene in any proceedings to which the Consolidated Entity is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility 
on behalf of the Consolidated Entity for all or part of those proceedings. The Consolidated Entity was not a party 
to any such proceedings during the year. 

NON AUDIT SERVICES 

The following non-audit services were provided by our auditors, BDO Audit Pty Ltd. The Directors are satisfied 
that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act. The nature and scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that 
auditor independence was not compromised. The following fees for non-audit services were paid or were payable 
to the external auditors during the year ended 30 June 2012: 

 $24,816 (2011 $30,601) for the provision of tax services.  
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
The auditor, BDO Audit Pty Ltd, has provided the Board of Directors with an independence declaration in accordance 
with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The independence declaration is attached to and forms part of this Directors’ Report. 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors 
 

 
W McCrae 
Chairman 
 
27 September 2012 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2012 

 

 
 Notes 2012 2011 
  $ $ 

Revenue  2 4,992,798 1,982,951 

Other income 2 1,889,052 370,439 

    

Expenses    

Repairs and maintenance   (43,778) (68,493) 

Employee expenses  (4,281,270) ( 3,687,370) 

Shareholder expenses  (225,624) ( 393,731) 

Occupancy expenses  (489,572) ( 322,422) 

Depreciation expense  (130,854) ( 73,612) 

Travel  (401,274) ( 267,695) 

Gain/(Loss) on disposal of available for sale financial assets  - 9,096 

Write off of project costs and other mine related costs  (325,370) - 

Foreign exchange loss  - ( 1,093,573) 

Other   (207,209) ( 98,599) 

Total Expenses   (6,104,951) ( 5,996,399) 

Profit (loss) from continuing operations before related income tax 
expense/benefit 3 776,899 ( 3,643,009) 

Income tax expense/benefit 5 - - 

Net profit (loss) for the year  776,899 ( 3,643,009)  

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year  776,899 ( 3,643,009)  

    
  Cents Cents 
Earnings per share:    
Basic earnings (loss) per share 6 0.4 (2.5) 
Diluted earnings per share 6 0.4 (2.5) 

 

The above financial statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2012 
 

 

 Notes 2012 2011 
  $ $ 

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 7 127,441,676 103,128,760 

Trade and other receivables 8 2,441,192 643,305 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  129,882,868 103,772,065 

 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Trade and other receivables 8 49,895 59,867 

Other non-current asset 9 - 11,388,379 

Property, plant and equipment 10 58,315,165 12,355,260 

Exploration and evaluation assets 11 31,189,674 62,344,851 

Development costs 12 51,961,685 1,590,831 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  141,516,419 87,739,188 

TOTAL ASSETS  271,399,287 191,511,253 

 
CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 13 3,012,047 3,868,750 

Provisions 14 174,357 - 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  3,186,404 3,868,750 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Provisions 14 583,067 229,029 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  583,067 229,029 

 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  3,769,471  4,097,779 

NET ASSETS  267,629,816 187,413,474 

EQUITY    

Contributed equity 15 311,312,946 232,613,169 

Reserves 17 35,174,231  34,434,565 

Accumulated losses  (78,857,361) (79,634,260) 

TOTAL EQUITY  267,629,816  187,413,474 

 
 
 

The above financial statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 

 

 

 Contributed 
Equity 

Accumulated 
Losses 

Option 
Reserve 

Capital 
Realisation 

Reserve 

Capital 
Redemption 

Reserve Total Equity 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

       

Balance at 1 
July 2010 139,893,702 (75,991,251) 32,919,838 95,113 432,000 97,349,403 

Loss for the 
year - ( 3,643,009) - - - (3,643,009) 

Total comprehensive 
income - (3,643,009) - - - (3,643,009) 

Shares issued 
during the year 

102,160,000 - - - - 102,160,000 

Share issue 
costs 

( 3,224,238) - - - - ( 3,224,238) 

Share buy-back ( 6,216,295) - - - - (6,216,295) 

Share based 
payments 

- - 987,614 - - 987,614 

Balance at 30 June 
2011 232,613,169 (79,634,260) 33,907,452 95,113 432,000 187,413,474 

Profit for the year - 
                  

776,899 
                          

-  
                              

-  - 
                  

776,899 

Total comprehensive 
income -                  776,899 

                          
-  

                              
-   - 

                  
776,899 

       
Shares issued during 
the year 119,167,200 

                                  
-  

                          
-  

                              
-  - 

          
119,167,200 

Share issue costs ( 5,272,459) 
                                  

-  
                          

-  
                              

-  - ( 5,272,459) 
Share based 
payment expense -  -  

             
739,666 - - 

                   
739,666 

Share buy-back ( 35,194,964) 
                                  

-  
                          

-  
                              

-  - (35,194,964) 

Balance at 30 June 
2012 311,312,946 (78,857,361) 34,647,118 95,113 432,000 267,629,816 

 

The above financial statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 

 

 Notes 2012 2011 
  $ $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Receipts in the course of operations (including GST)  4,657,211 1,607,774 

Payments in the course of operations (including GST)  (11,486,477) (4,888,752) 

Interest received  4,164,415 2,196,184 

Research & development tax concession  650,153 299,114 

NET CASH INFLOWS (OUTFLOWS) FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES 
20 (2,014,698) (785,680) 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (36,817,318) (3,278,691) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation assets  (10,625,322) (10,566,305) 

Payments for mine development costs  (4,122,420) (1,550,084) 

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment  - 91,510 

Proceeds from sale of equity investments  - 849,617 

Payments for deposit on contract to acquire plant and 
equipment 

 - (11,388,379) 

Increase in deposits  9,972 (17,901) 

NET CASH OUTFLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (51,555,087) (25,860,233) 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from issue of shares  119,167,200 102,160,000 

Cost of on-market share buy-back  (37,321,544) (4,497,119) 

Share issue / buy back costs  (5,272,459) (3,224,238) 

NET CASH INFLOWS (OUTFLOWS) FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES 

 
76,573,197 94,438,643 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS HELD 
 23,003,412 67,792,730 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  103,128,760 36,429,603 

Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  1,309,504 (1,093,573) 

CASH AND CASH  EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR 

7 127,441,676 103,128,760 

 
 

 

The above financial statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 
 

 

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

CuDeco Limited is a listed public company, incorporated in and domiciled in Australia. 

The financial statements of CuDeco Limited (the “Company”) for the year ended 30 June 2012 were authorised 
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 27 September 2012 and covers the consolidated 
entity consisting of CuDeco Ltd and its subsidiaries as required by the Corporations Act 2001. Separate 
financial statements of CuDeco Ltd as an individual entity are not required to be presented however, limited 
financial information for CuDeco Ltd as an individual entity is included in note 26. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian currency. 

(a)  Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial report complies with Australian Accounting 
Standards, which include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). 
Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial statements and notes, comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The consolidated entity is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

The financial statements have also been prepared on a historical cost basis and, except where stated, do not 
take into account changing money values or fair values of non-current assets. 

The financial statements have also been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the continuity 
of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the ordinary course of 
business.  The Directors believe sufficient funds are held for committed arrangements and existing liabilities 
over the next 12 months for exploration purposes. The consolidated entity is currently in the mine development 
phase for its major area of interest (Rocklands). Whilst various committed arrangements have been entered 
into for components of the mine development and associated infrastructure which can be funded from existing 
resources, there remain significant components of the mine development where both pricing and timing of 
development remains at the discretion of the consolidated entity. To finalise mine development and enter the 
mining production phase, the consolidated entity will seek to source funding through a combination of debt 
and/or equity. The ability of the consolidated entity to remain as a going concern beyond that period or for mine 
development and mining production purposes, is dependent on the discretion of the consolidated entity in 
remaining flexible in its development phase and/or the ability of the consolidated entity to successfully raise 
additional funding and/or the successful exploration and subsequent exploitation of areas of interest. The 
Directors also remain satisfied that once in production, the forecasts for the operations are of a profitable and 
positive operating cash flow nature. 

The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial 
statements. Unless otherwise stated, these accounting policies are consistent with those of the previous year. 

(b)  Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of entities controlled by 
CuDeco Limited at the end of or during the reporting period.  A controlled entity is any entity over which 
CuDeco Limited has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from the 
entity’s activities. Control will generally exist when the parent owns directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, 
more than half of the voting power of an entity.  In assessing the power to govern, the existence and effect of 
holdings of actual and potential voting rights are also considered.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 (Continued) 
 

 
1.   STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  

(b)  Principles of Consolidation (continued) 

Where controlled entities have entered or left the Group during the year, the financial performance of those 
entities are included only for the period of the year that that they were controlled. A list of controlled entities is 
contained in Note 19 to the financial statements. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-group balances and transactions between entities in 
the consolidated group have been eliminated on consolidation.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with those adopted by the parent entity. 

Non-controlling interests, being the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the parent, are 
shown separately within the Equity section of the consolidated Statement of Financial Position and Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. The non-controlling interests in the net assets comprise their interests at the date of 
the original business combination and their share of changes in equity since that date. 

(c)  Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Consolidated 
Entity and the revenue is capable of being reliably measured. Revenue is recognised at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon the delivery of goods to customers. 

Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 

(d)  Goods and Services Tax   

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the 
statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.  

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of 
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the 
taxation authority. 

(e)  Taxation 

The current income tax expense is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any non-assessable or 
disallowed items.  It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or are substantively enacted by the 
balance date. 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.   

No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a 
business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 
liability is settled.  Deferred tax is recognised in the profit or loss except where it relates to items that may be 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the deferred tax is recognised 
directly against other comprehensive income or equity. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 (Continued) 
 

 
1.   STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  
(e)  Taxation (continued) 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. 

The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the 
assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the 
Consolidated Entity will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and 
comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law. 

CuDeco Limited and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated 
group under the tax consolidation regime. CuDeco Limited is responsible for recognising the current tax 
assets and liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from unused losses of the group for the tax 
consolidated group. 

(f) Receivables 

The collectability of receivables is assessed at balance date and specific provision is made for any doubtful 
accounts. 

(g)  Business Combinations 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations. Consideration is 
measured at the fair value of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the 
group on acquisition date. Consideration also includes the acquisition date fair values of any contingent 
consideration arrangements, any pre-existing equity interests in the acquiree and share-based payment 
awards of the acquiree that are required to be replaced in a business combination. The acquisition date is 
the date on which the group obtains control of the acquiree. Where equity instruments are issued as part of 
the consideration, the value of the equity instruments is their published market price at the acquisition date 
unless, in rare circumstances it can be demonstrated that the published price at acquisition date is not fair 
value and that other evidence and valuation methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations are, 
with limited exceptions, initially measured at their fair values at acquisition date. Goodwill represents the 
excess of the consideration transferred and the amount of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree over 
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. If the consideration and non-controlling interest of the 
acquiree is less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired, the difference is recognised in 
profit or loss as a bargain purchase price, but only after a reassessment of the identification and 
measurement of the net assets acquired. 

For each business combination, the group measures non-controlling interests at either fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. 

Where the group obtains control of a subsidiary that was previously accounted for as an equity accounted 
investment in associate or jointly controlled entity, the group remeasures its previously held equity interest 
in the acquiree at its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
Where the group obtains control of a subsidiary that was previously accounted for as an available-for-sale 
investment, any balance on the available-for-sale reserve related to that investment is recognised in profit 
or loss as if the group had disposed directly of the previously held interest.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 (Continued) 
 

 
1.   STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(g)  Business Combinations (continued) 

Where settlement of any part of the cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in future are 
discounted to present value at the date of exchange using the entity's incremental borrowing rate as the 
discount rate. 

Contingent consideration is classified as equity or financial liabilities. Amounts classified as financial liabilities 
are subsequently remeasured to fair value at the end of each reporting period, with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Assets and liabilities from business combinations involving entities or businesses under common control are 
accounted for at the carrying amounts recognised in the group's controlling shareholder's consolidated financial 
statements. 

(h)  Payables 

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received.  Trade accounts 
payable are unsecured and normally settled within 30 days. 

(i)  Exploration and Evaluation  

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. 
These costs are only carried forward to the extent that the Consolidated Entity’s rights of tenure to that area of 
interest are current and that the costs are expected to be recouped through the successful development of the 
area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the 
existence of economically recoverable reserves. 

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which the 
decision to abandon the area is made. 

When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over the 
life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry 
forward costs in relation to that area of interest. 

(j)  Research and Development Expenditure 

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure incurred on an individual project is 
capitalised if the product or service is technically feasible, adequate resources are available to complete the 
project, it is probable that future economic benefits will be generated and expenditure attributable to the project 
can be measured reliably. The carrying value of development costs is reviewed annually when the asset is not 
yet available for use, or when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

(k)  Impairment of Non Financial Assets 

At each reporting date the Consolidated Entity assesses whether there is any indication that individual assets 
are impaired. Where impairment indicators exist, recoverable amount is determined and impairment losses are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income where the asset’s carrying value exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. For the purpose of assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount for an individual asset, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 (Continued) 
 

 
1.   STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
(l)  Property, Plant and Equipment 

Items of property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. 

Property, plant and equipment acquired is initially recorded at their cost of acquisition at the date of acquisition, 
being the fair value of the consideration provided plus incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Consolidated Entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation and Amortisation 

All assets, including intangibles, have limited useful lives and are depreciated/amortised using the straight line 
method over their estimated useful lives commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
Depreciation and amortisation rates and methods are reviewed annually for appropriateness. When changes 
are made, adjustments are reflected prospectively in current and future periods only. Depreciation and 
amortisation are expensed, except to the extent that they are included in the carrying amount of another asset 
as an allocation of production overheads. Assets under construction are not depreciated. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of assets are: 

Class of fixed asset   Depreciation rate 
Buildings    10% 
Plant and equipment   20% – 33%  

(m)  Employee Benefits 

The Consolidated Entity’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to 
balance date is accrued. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs. Employee 
benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made for those benefits. 

(n)  Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments, that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in 
current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

(o)  Issued Capital 

Ordinary shares issued are classified as contributed equity. 

Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown as a deduction from the equity 
proceeds. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 (Continued) 
 

 

1.   STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(p)  Share-Based Payments 

The Company may provide benefits to Directors, employees and suppliers of the Consolidated Entity in the 
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby Directors, employees and suppliers render services in 
exchange for options to purchase shares in the Company (equity-settled transactions). 

There is currently a loan funded share plan and an Employee Option Plan in place to provide these benefits to 
employees. 

The cost of these share-based payment transactions is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. Fair values at grant date are determined using a Black-
Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the life of the option, the current price 
of the underlying instrument, the price volatility of the underlying instrument, the expected dividend yield and 
the risk-free rate for the life of the option, further details of which are given in Note 16. 

The assessed fair value at grant date is recognised as an expense or is capitalised to exploration and 
evaluation expenditure, together with a corresponding increase in equity, pro rata over the life of the option 
from grant date to expected vesting date. No amount is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest 
because internal vesting conditions were not met. An amount is still recognised for options that do not 
ultimately vest because a market condition was not met.  

Where options are cancelled, they are treated as if they had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
unrecognised expenses are immediately recognised. However, if new options are substituted for the cancelled 
options and designated as a replacement on grant date, the combined impact of the cancellation and 
replacement options are treated as if they were a modification. 

(q)  Earnings per Share 

(i) Basic Earnings per Share – Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the net profit or loss by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 

(ii) Diluted Earnings per Share – Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of 
basic earnings per share for the after tax effect of financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares and the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been 
outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

(r) Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and 
assumptions of future events. The key judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual 
reporting period are: 

Key judgments: 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure  

The Board of Directors determines when an area of interest should be abandoned. When a decision is made 

that an area of interest is not commercially viable, all costs that have been capitalised in respect of that area 

of interest are written off. The Directors’ decision is made after considering the likelihood of finding 

commercially viable reserves 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 (Continued) 
 

 
1.   STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(r) Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

Key estimates: 

Share-based payment transactions 

The Consolidated Entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees and consultants by 
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is 
determined using a Black-Scholes model, using the assumptions detailed in Note 16. 

Rocklands Project 

As disclosed in Note 1(a), the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The 

company has secured its mining leases, and has commenced the development of the Rocklands mine. The 

company has capitalised some early stage development expenditure and paid a significant portion for the 

design and construction of the processing plant. These amounts have been capitalised on the basis the 

Directors believe that it is highly probable the development of the Rocklands Project will be completed within 

the next 12 to 18 months and production will commence soon thereafter. The company has prepared a 

cashflow forecast for its existing commitments and on the basis that development proceeds as planned, the 

cashflow forecast identifies the need to secure additional funding in excess of existing cash levels to 

complete development and provide the necessary working capital. For the additional funding required, the 

Directors have a range of options available to them and will determine the appropriate source of funding as 

the needs arise. 

Rehabilitation 

The consolidated entity has not yet commenced significant mining operations, but through its initial 
development activities have made various disturbances. These disturbances are relatively minor in nature 
and most of the assets in situ are both transportable and demountable with no significant cost to remove and 
rectify the land on which they are located. Due to the level of disturbance from these activities a provision for 
Rehabilitation as at the end of the financial year in the financial statements has been recognised for 
$500,000. The timing and final costs for rehabilitation is based on estimates available as at 30 June 2012 and 
could be subject to uncertainty. 

(s) Investments and Other Financial Assets  

All investments and other financial assets are initially stated at cost, being the fair value of consideration 
given plus transaction costs. Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date which is the 
date on which the Consolidated Entity commits to purchase or sell the asset. Accounting policies for each 
category of investments and other financial assets subsequent to initial recognition are set out below. 

Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investments in listed and unlisted entities, and are classified as 
non-current assets (unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of reporting 
date).  After initial recognition, these investments are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. Where there is a significant or prolonged decline 
in the fair value of an available for sale financial asset (which constitutes objective evidence of impairment) 
the full amount including any amount previously charged to equity, is recognised in profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 (Continued) 
 

 
1.   STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Reversals of impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available-for-sale cannot be reversed 
through profit or loss.  

The fair value of quoted investments are determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of 
business on the balance date.  

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Loans and receivables are included in current assets, except for those which are not expected to mature within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

(t) Comparative figures 

When required by Australian Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to 
presentation for the current financial year.  

(u) Operating segments 

The Group has applied AASB 8 Operating Segments which requires a management approach under which 
segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes.  Operating 
segments are now reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal reporting to the chief operating 
decision maker (“CODM”), which has been identified by the company as the Executive Chairman and other 
members of the Board of Directors. 

(v) New and amended standards and interpretations 
The following new and amended standards and interpretations have been adopted in the current year: 

 AASB2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project – the amendments clarify that an entity may choose to present the required analysis 
of items of other comprehensive income either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

 AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures and AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from Trans-Tasman Convergence Project – the application of these standards in the 
current year has resulted in the simplification of disclosures in regards to audit fees, and capital and other 
expenditure commitments as well as additional disclosure on whether the Group is a for-profit or not-for-
profit entity. 

The adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any material impact on the current or any 
prior period and is not likely to materially affect future periods. 

(w) Accounting standards issued not yet effective  

The following new and amended accounting standards and interpretations have been issued, but are not 
mandatory for financial years ended 30 June 2012. They have not been adopted in preparing the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2012 and are expected to impact the entity in the period of initial 
application. In all cases the entity intends to apply these standards from application date as indicated below:- 
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1.   STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2013) 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and de-recognition of financial 
assets and financial liabilities.  It simplifies the approach for classification and measurement of financial 
assets compared with the requirements of AASB 139.  Financial assets are to be classified based on (a) the 
objective of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets; and (b) the characteristics of the 
contractual cash flows.  This replaces the numerous categories of financial assets in AASB 139. The 
Consolidated Entity does not plan to adopt this standard early and the extent of the impact has not been 
determined. 

(ii) AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (effective from 1 January 2013) 

AASB 10 replaces parts of AASB127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and interpretation 12: 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. AASB 10 provides a revised definition of control and additional 
application guidance so that a single control model will apply to all investees. The Group has not yet been 
able to reasonably estimate the impact of this standard on its financial statements. 

(iii) AASB 11 Joint Arrangements (effective from 1 January 2013) 

AASB 11 replaces AASB131 – Interest in Joint Ventures. AASB 11 requires joint arrangements to be 
classified as either “joint operations” (where the parties that have joint control of the arrangements have 
rights to assets and obligations for the liabilities) or “joint ventures” (where the parties that have joint control 
of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement). Joint ventures are required to adopt the 
equity method of accounting (proportionate consolidation is no longer allowed). 

(iv) AASB 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities (effective from 1 January 2013) 

AASB 12 contains the disclosure requirements applicable to entities that hold an interest in a subsidiary, joint 
venture, joint operation or associate. AASB 12 also introduces the concept of a “structured entity” replacing 
“special purpose entity” concept currently used in interpretation 112, and requires specific disclosure in 
respect of any investments in unconsolidated structured entities. The Standard will affect disclosures only 
and is not expected to significantly impact the Group. 

(v) AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement (effective from 1 January 2013) 

AASB 13 establishes a single framework for measuring fair value of financial and non-financial items 
recognised at fair value in the statement of financial position or disclosed in the notes in the financial 
statements. Additional disclosures required for items measured at fair value in the statement of financial 
position, as well as items merely disclosed at fair value in the notes to the financial statements. The entity 
has yet to conduct a detailed analysis of the differences between the current fair valuation methodologies 
used and those required by AASB 13. However, when this standard is adopted for the first time for the year 
ended 30 June 2014, there will be no impact on the financial statements because the revised fair value 
measurement requirements apply prospectively from 1 July 2013. 

(vi) Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (effective from 1 January 
2013) 

This interpretation provides clarification that costs of removing mine waste materials (overburden) to 
gain access to mineral ore deposits during the production phase of a mine must be capitalised as 
inventories under AASB 102 Inventories if the benefits from stripping activity is realised in the form of 
inventory produced. Otherwise, if stripping activity provides improved access to the ore, stripping costs 
must be capitalised as a non-current, stripping activity asset if certain recognition criteria are met (as an 
addition to, or enhancement of, an existing asset). At this stage the entity plans to operate a surface 
mine and there may be some impact on the financial statements when this interpretation is first 
adopted.
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  2012 2011 
  $ $ 

2.  REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME   

Revenue     

Interest   4,817,798  1,977,828 
Contribution received for Infrastructure asset  175,000 - 
Equipment hire rental   - 5,123 

Total revenue   4,992,798 1,982,951 

    
Other income     
Foreign exchange   1,206,802 - 
Diesel fuel rebate  26,830  66,789 
Insurance claim  - 4,536 
R&D tax concession  650,153 299,114 
Sundry income  5,267 - 

  1,889,052 370,439 

 
3.  EXPENSES  

Profit (loss) before income tax has been arrived at 
after the following items: 

 
 

   
Operating lease rental – director-related entity 224,941 213,571 
Operating lease rental – other 209,542 72,844 
Share based payment expense – employees and 
consultants - 843,604 
Share based payment expense –  Directors 739,666 - 
Defined contribution superannuation expense 86,828 101,107 

 

4. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION   

Amounts received or due and receivable by BDO 
Audit Pty Ltd:  

  

- Auditing or reviewing the financial report  100,636 69,494 
- Tax services 24,816 30,601 

Total 125,452 100,095 
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 2012 2011 

 $ $ 

5.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE   

Reconciliation   

Current Income Tax Expense 110,834 (1,852,650) 

Deferred Income Tax Expense  (356,145) 255,496 

Under/Over provision in prior year 245,311 1,597,154 

Total - - 

   

The prima facie income tax profit (loss) is reconciled to the income tax 

provided in the financial statements as follows: 

  

The prima facie income tax expense (benefit) (30%) on profit/(loss) 

before income tax 233,070 (1,092,903) 

Permanent differences (122,236) 587,803 

Current tax loss not recognised 7,762,846 3,064,300 

Temporary differences related to deferred tax assets not recognised (2,408,380) (347,482) 

Temporary differences related to deferred tax liabilities not recognised (3,883,562) (3,397,248) 

Temporary differences on deferred tax assets in equity  (1,581,738) (411,642) 

Prior year write-back of reclassified exploration expenditure  13,034,100 - 

Prior year write-back of reclassified exploration expenditure not 

recognised (13,034,100) - 

Prior year loss under/(over) provision  (255,800) 1,597,154 

Loss under/over not recognised 255,800 - 

Prior year temporary differences under/(over) provision  (10,489) - 

Temporary/differences under/over not recognised 10,489 - 

Income tax expense - - 

   

Deferred Tax Balances   

Recognised deferred tax assets (640,780) 15,646,833 

Deductible temporary differences 8,894,185 1,767,600 

Unused tax losses 8,253,405 17,414,433 

Recognised deferred tax liabilities - - 

Assessable temporary differences (8,253,405) (17,414,433) 

Net deferred tax recognised - - 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets   

Unrecognised tax losses 53,071,429 5,539,117 

Deferred tax assets not taken up at 30% (2011: 30%) 15,921,429 1,661,735 
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5.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 
In order to recoup carried forward losses in future periods, either the Continuity of Ownership Test (COT) or 
Same Business Test must be passed. The majority of losses are carried forward at 30 June 2012 under COT.  
Deferred tax assets which have not been recognised as an asset, will only be obtained if:  

(i) the Consolidated Entity derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount 

sufficient to enable the losses to be realised;  

(ii) the Consolidated Entity continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by 

the law; and  

(iii) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Consolidated Entity in realising the losses. 

For the purposes of taxation, CuDeco Limited and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed a tax 
consolidated group. 
 
Franking credits 
There are no franking credits available to shareholders of CuDeco Limited. 
 
 
6.  EARNINGS PER SHARE 2012 

No. 
2011 
No. 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year used in calculation of basic EPS 175,911,200 147,757,451 

   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential 
ordinary outstanding during the year used in calculation of diluted 
EPS 177,207,785 147,757,451 
   

 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
Earnings used to calculate basic earnings per share  776,899 ( 3,643,009) 

   
Earnings used to calculate diluted earnings per share 776,899 ( 3,643,009) 

 
The Company has granted a total of 6,075,000 (2011: 6,825,000) share options. Options are considered to 
be potential ordinary shares and are used in the calculation of the Diluted Earnings per share where the 
exercise price of the options is lower than the prevailing share price. For the 30 June 2012 year, 1,425,000 
options were included in the calculation of the Diluted Earnings per share.  However, as the Consolidated 
Entity’s continuing operation was in a loss position for the year ended 30 June 2011 they were considered 
anti-dilutive in nature, as their exercise will not result in diluted earnings per share that shows an inferior view 
of earnings performance of the Consolidated Entity than is shown by basic earnings per share.   

   
   

7.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   

Cash at bank and in hand 1,478,191 75,433 

Deposits at call 125,963,485 103,053,326 

 
127,441,676 103,128,760 

- Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  
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 2012 2011 

 $ $ 

8.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES   

Current   

Accrued interest 893,672 240,288 

GST receivable 1,475,839 276,334 

Prepayments 71,466 46,985 

Other receivables 215 79,699 

 2,441,192 643,305 

   

Non-current   

Security deposits 49,895 59,867 

No receivables are past due or impaired at year end. 

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments: 

- Trade and sundry debtors are non-interest bearing and generally on 30 day terms. 
   

9.  OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS   

Deposit on contract for plant and equipment - 11,388,379 

 
10.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

Land and buildings   
At cost 7,396,461 2,744,570 
Accumulated depreciation (499,384) (183,765) 

Total land and buildings 6,897,077 2,560,805 

   

Land and Buildings (work-in-progress)   

At cost - 125,041 

   
Plant and equipment   
At cost 18,454,436 7,571,870 
Accumulated depreciation (6,270,592) (4,293,197) 

Total plant and equipment 12,183,844 3,278,673 

   
Plant and equipment (work-in-progress) 39,234,244 6,390,741 

   

Total property, plant and equipment 58,315,165 12,355,260 
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 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
10.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)    
   
Reconciliation   

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant 
and equipment between the beginning and the end of the financial 
year 

  

   
Land and buildings   
Carrying amount at the beginning of year 2,560,805 446,001 
Transferred from Work in Progress - 2,148,344 
Additions during the year 4,651,889 133,015 
Depreciation capitalised to exploration and evaluation assets (209,396) (48,496) 
Depreciation capitalised to development costs (64,759) - 
Depreciation expense  (41,462) (53,124) 
Transferred to exploration - (64,935) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 6,897,077 2,560,805 

 
Land and buildings (work-in-progress) 

   

Carrying amount at the beginning of year   125,041 1,392,190 

Additions during the year  15,302 881,195 

Transfer to land and buildings  - (2,148,344) 

Costs written off  (140,343) - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  - 125,041 

 
Plant and equipment    

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 3,278,673 3,416,647 
Additions during the year 7,197,421 1,455,240 
Equipment transferred from plant and equipment being commissioned 3,686,290 - 
Depreciation capitalised to exploration and evaluation assets (1,207,699) (1,291,281) 
Depreciation capitalised to development costs (681,449) (22,002) 
Depreciation expense (89,392) (20,487) 
Disposals - (259,444) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 12,183,844  3,278,673 

   
Plant and equipment (work-in-progress)   

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 6,390,741 5,531,308 
Additions during the year 25,141,414 859,433 
Transfer from other assets – deposit paid on plant 11,388,379 - 
Equipment transferred to plant and equipment  (3,686,290) - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 39,234,244 6,390,741 

   

Total property, plant and equipment 58,315,165 12,355,260 
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 2012 2011 

 $ $ 
11.  EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS   

   
Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest   
in exploration and/or evaluation phase:   
Balance at the beginning of the year 62,344,851 50,238,553 
Exploration costs incurred 10,874,728 10,557,576 
Depreciation capitalised to exploration 1,417,095 1,339,777 
Transfer to development costs (43,447,000) - 
Transferred from land and buildings - 64,935 
Share based payments expense capitalised to exploration - 144,010 

Total exploration and evaluation assets  31,189,674  62,344,851 

   
The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and 
evaluation phase is dependent on the successful development and 
commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas of interest. 

  

   
12.  DEVELOPMENT COSTS 

   
Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest   
in the development phase:   
Balance at the beginning of the year 1,590,831 18,745 
Development costs incurred 6,177,646 1,550,084 
Depreciation capitalised to development costs 746,208 22,002 
Transferred from exploration and evaluation assets 43,447,000 - 

Total development costs 51,961,685 1,590,831 

   
The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for the development 
phases is dependent on the successful development and commercial 
exploitation or sale of the respective areas of interest. To date there has 
been no amortisation of the costs as production has not commenced. 

   

   

13.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES   

CURRENT   
Unsecured liabilities:   
Trade creditors 2,205,622 531,266  
Accrued annual leave 512,856 438,589  
Sundry creditors and accrued expenses 293,569 2,898,895  

 3,012,047 3,868,750 
   

 
Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments: 

 
- Trade and other creditors are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms. 
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 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
14.  PROVISIONS   
CURRENT LIABILITY   

Long service leave provision 174,357 - 

   
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY   

Long service leave provision 83,067 229,029 
Rehabilitation provision 500,000 - 

 583,067 229,029 

 

15.  CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 
 
 

Issued and paid-up share capital   

187,043,961 (2011: 165,286,242) ordinary shares, fully paid 311,312,946 232,613,169 

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to 
one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings. In the event of winding up of the Company ordinary 
shareholders rank after creditors and are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidation. 

(a) Ordinary Shares 

Movements in ordinary share capital over the past two years were as follows: 

Date Details 
Number of 

Shares 
Issue 
Price $ 

1 July 2010 Opening balance 136,167,316  139,893,702 

October 2010 Share placement - 10 Million shares  10,000,000 $2.00    20,000,000 

January 2011 Option conversion 100,000 $3.50 350,000 

March 2011 Share placement - 6.25 Million shares  6,250,000 $4.00 25,000,000 

April 2011 Share placement - 14.95 Million shares 14,950,000 $3.80  56,810,000 

July 2010 to June 
2011 

Shares cancelled pursuant to the on-market 
share buy-back 

(2,181,074) 
 

(6,216,295) 

 Share issue costs / cancellation costs -  
 

(3,224,238) 

30 June 2011 Closing balance 165,286,242  232,613,169 

December 2011 Share placement - 23.977 Million shares 23,977,000 $3.60 86,317,200 

December 2011 Option Conversion 100,000 $2.50 250,000 

January 2012 Share placement - 8 Million shares 8,000,000 $4.00 32,000,000 

February 2012 Option Conversion 100,000 $2.50 250,000 

May 2012 Option Conversion 100,000 $3.50 350,000 

July 2011 to May 
2012 

Shares cancelled pursuant to the on-market 
share buy-back 

(10,519,281)  (35,194,964) 

 Share issue costs / cancellation costs -  (5,272,459) 

30 June 2012 Closing Balance 187,043,961  311,312,946 
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15. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued) 

(a) Ordinary Shares (continued) 

On 18 June 2012, Sinosteel Equipment and Engineering Co Ltd (“Sinosteel”) agreed to accept shares in lieu of 
cash for the major additional alternative componentry for the Rocklands 3mtp process plant. The agreement allows 
for Sinosteel to be issued 3,333,333 fully paid shares in CuDeco Ltd in lieu of $13m cash for additional/alternative 
componentry at $A3.90c per share. This amount forms part of the commitments disclosed in Note 21. 

 (b) Share Options 
 

Exercise Period 

Exercise 
Price 

Opening 
Balance 
1 July 
2011 

Options 
Issued 
2011/ 
2012 

Options 
Exercised 
2011/2012 

Options 
Expired/ 
Forfeited 
2011/2012 

Closing 
Balance 
30 June 

2012 

  Number Number Number Number Number 
01/01/2010 - 
10/06/2012 

$3.50 300,000 - (100,000) (200,000) - 

31/07/2010 - 
31/07/2012 

$4.00 2,400,000 - - (250,000) 2,150,000 

31/07/2010 - 
31/07/2012 

$4.50 200,000 - - - 200,000 

On or before 
31/12/2012 

$6.50 2,700,000 - - - 2,700,000 

22/02/2011 - 
22/02/2013 

$4.50 100,000 - - - 100,000 

15/12/2012 - 
15/09/2013 

$2.50 600,000 - - - 600,000 

15/09/2011 - 
15/09/2013 

$2.50 525,000 - (200,000) - 325,000 

  6,825,000 - (300,000) (450,000) 6,075,000 

None of the options have any voting rights, any entitlement to dividends or any entitlement to the proceeds on 
liquidation in the event of a winding up. 
 

16.  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

Loan funded Share Plan 

In November 2011, the Company sought, and was granted, approval for setting up of Loan Funded Employee 
Share Plan (“Share Plan”). The Plan allows Directors from time to time to invite eligible employees to participate in 
the Share Plan and offer shares to those eligible persons. The Share Plan is designed to provide incentives, assist 
in the recruitment, reward, retention of employees and provide opportunities for employees (both present and 
future) to participate directly in the equity of the Company. The participant will be provided with an interest free, 
non-recourse loan for the consideration payable for the shares. The vesting of the shares will be subject to 
performance or service conditions as determined by the Board. Shares issued to date are only subject to service 
conditions. The shares issued under the Share Plan are held in trust (in Treasury) for eligible persons as security 
for the loans. There are no cash settlement alternatives.  

In the year ended 30 June 2012, a total of 800,000 shares have been issued under the Share Plan. The 
shareholders approved the issue of these shares to Directors in November 2011.  

For accounting purposes shares issued pursuant to the Share plan will be treated and valued as options, and 
the fair value of the options granted under the Plan is estimated as at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes 
model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which they were granted.
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16.  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 

 

Employee Option Plan 

In November 2008, the Company sought, and was granted, approval for maintenance of the CuDeco Ltd 
Employee Option Plan (“Plan”). The Plan allows Directors from time to time to invite eligible employees to 
participate in the Plan and offer options to those eligible persons. The Plan is designed to provide incentives, 
assist in the recruitment, reward, retention of employees and provide opportunities for employees (both present 
and future) to participate directly in the equity of the Company. The contractual life of each option granted is 
three years. There are no cash settlement alternatives. 

Non Plan based payments 

The Company also makes share based payments to consultants and / or service providers from time to time, 
not under any specific plan. The CuDeco Limited Employee Option Plan does not allow for issue of options to 
the Directors of the parent entity. Hence, specific shareholder approval is obtained for any share based 
payments to Directors of the parent entity. 

The following is a summary of the share based payments made:- 
 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
Share based payment expense 739,666 843,604 
Share based payments capitalised to exploration and 
evaluation asset - 144,010 

Total share based payments for the year 739,666 987,614 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices of and movements in share 
options issued during the year: 

 2012 
No. 

2012 
Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

2011 
No. 

2011 
Weighted 

average exercise 
price 

Outstanding at the beginning of 

the year 6,825,000 $4.74 6,150,000 $5.16 

Granted during the year     

- Employees 800,000 $3.78 800,000 $2.50 

- Consultants - - 600,000 $2.50 

Forfeited during the year (250,000) $4.00 (275,000) $2.50 

Exercised during the year (300,000) $2.83 (100,000) $3.50 

Expired during the year (200,000) $3.50 (350,000) $5.23 

Outstanding at the end of the 

year 6,875,000 $4.79 6,825,000 $4.74 

Exercisable at the end of the 

year 6,075,000 $4.91 6,825,000 $4.74 

 
Options issued during 2012 vest 12 months after grant date. Employee options are cancelled 30 days after 
employment is terminated. All other options issued vested on the day they were granted.  
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16.  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 
The weighted average for the remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the year is 0.45 
years (2011: 1.44 years). Share options outstanding at the end of the year have exercise prices ranging from $2.50 
to $6.50 (2011: $2.50 to $6.50). 
 
The fair value of options is estimated as at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes model taking into account the 
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.  
 
The weighted average share price on the date that options were exercised was $3.39 (2011 $4.18). 

 
The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the years ended 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011: 

 2012 2011 

Fair value  $1.85 to $2.64 $0.92 

Volatility (%)  49-83 80-90 

Average risk-free interest rates (%)  4.25 4.65 

Weighted average expected life of options (years)  5 3 

Weighted average exercise prices $3.87 $2.50 

Weighted average share price at grant date  $3.87 $2.09 

Dividends - - 
 

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that 
may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, 
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of options granted were incorporated into 
the measurement of fair value. 
 

 2012 2011 
17.  RESERVES $ $ 

   
Capital Realisation 95,113 95,113 
Capital Redemptions    432,000    432,000 
Option 34,647,118   33,907,452 

 35,174,231 34,434,565 

   
(a)  Movement During the Year – Option    
 Opening balance 33,907,451 32,919,838 
 Issue options to employees / consultants - 987,613 
 Issue loan funded shares to Directors 739,666   -  

 Closing balance  34,647,118  33,907,451 

Option Reserve 

The option reserve is used to record the fair value of options issued but not exercised. 
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18.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT DISCLOSURES 

To ensure a prudent approach to risk management the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to the following key 
risks have been assessed where applicable; market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, 
cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 
framework. Management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the 
Consolidated Entity through regular reviews of the risks. 

The Groups financial assets and liabilities primarily comprise: 

 
(a) Market risk 

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity 
prices will affect the entity’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 

 The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters while optimising the return.  

 The entity does not have any material exposure to market risk other than interest rate risk and foreign 
exchange risk. 
i) Interest rate risk 

 The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rate relates primarily to 
the Consolidated Entity’s cash and cash equivalents. The Consolidated Entity does not have any 
interest bearing liabilities. It is the policy of the Consolidated Entity to manage interest rate risk 
exposures by continuously monitoring interest rates and to alter the balance of fixed and variable rate 
deposits as considered appropriate. 

The Consolidated Entity has fixed interest term deposit facilities with a secure banking institution to 
maximise its interest income from surplus cash. The Consolidated Entity holds working capital in 
transaction accounts at variable interest rates. Fixed interest term deposit accounts have been 
included in the sensitivity analysis as they generally mature within a 1 - 3 month period. A change of 
100 basis points (100bps) in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) 
equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below, where interest is applicable. This analysis 
assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 
last year.   

  

  2012 2011 
  $ $ 

    

Cash and cash equivalents  127,441,676 103,128,760 

Trade and other receivables  2,491,087 703,173 

Total Assets  129,932,763 103,831,932 

    

Trade and other payables  2,499,191 3,430,161 

Total Liabilities  2,499,191 3,430,161 
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18.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT DISCLOSURES (continued) 

 

ii) Foreign exchange risk 
 The Consolidated Entity is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations risks. This arises from cash held in 

US dollars. These funds were acquired when the Consolidated Entity made commitments to acquire 
plant and equipment which was priced in this currency. The Directors at the time believed that the rate 
at which the US dollars were acquired was favourable and limited the Consolidated Entity to any 
additional risk to foreign exchange fluctuations. 

 A change of 1 cent in the US Dollar equivalent of an Australian dollar exchange rate at the reporting 
date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This 
analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The amounts disclosed below are the 
Australian dollar equivalents. 

  Profit or (Loss) Equity 
 
 
 

Carrying 
Amount 

$ 

1 cent 
increase 

$ 

1 cent 
decrease 

$ 

1 cent 
increase 

$ 

1 cent 
decrease 

$ 
30 June 2012      
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

19,755,133 (200,735) 200,735 (200,735) 200,735 

Total increase / 
(decrease) 

 (200,735) 200,735 (200,735) 200,735 

30 June 2011      
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

40,295,093 (387,325) 372,823 (387,325) 372,823 

Total increase / 
(decrease) 

 (387,325) 372,823 (387,325) 372,823 

 
 

  

  Profit or (Loss) Equity 
 
 
 

Carrying 
Amount 

$ 

100bps 
increase 

$ 

100bps 
decrease 

$ 

100bps 
increase 

$ 

100bps 
decrease 

$ 
30 June 2012      
Cash and cash 
equivalents 127,441,676 1,274,417 (1,274,417) 1,274,417 (1,274,417) 
Total increase / 
(decrease)  1,274,417 (1,274,417) 1,274,417 (1,274,417) 
30 June 2011      
Cash and cash 
equivalents 103,128,760 1,031,288 (1,031,288) 1,031,288 (1,031,288) 

Total increase / 
(decrease)  1,031,288 (1,031,288) 1,031,288 (1,031,288) 
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18.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT DISCLOSURES (continued) 
  
(b) Credit risk 

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Consolidated Entity if a customer or counterparty to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s 
receivables and cash on deposit.   

(i) Cash on deposit 

The Consolidated Entity limits its exposure to credit risk by depositing its funds with reputable 
financial institutions. Cash at year end was deposited with National Australia Bank. 

(ii) Receivables 

As the Consolidated Entity has not commenced production, it does not have trade receivables and 
therefore is not exposed to material credit risk in relation to trade receivables. 

The Consolidated Entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of its financial 
assets as disclosed in the statement of financial position. 

 (c) Liquidity risk 

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due. The Consolidated Entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal 
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Consolidated 
Entity’s reputation. The Consolidated Entity currently has no committed lines of credit or any 
significant financial liabilities, other than payables. 

 The Consolidated Entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.  

Due to the nature of the Consolidated Entity’s activities and the present lack of operating revenue, the 
Consolidated Entity has to raise additional capital from time to time in order to fund its exploration and 
development activities. The decision on how and when the Consolidated Entity will raise future capital 
will depend on market conditions existing at that time and the level of forecast activity and 
expenditure. 

 At the reporting date the contractual maturity of trade and other payables are all less than 12 months. 

(d) Capital Management 

 The capital structure of the Company consists of contributed equity and reserves less accumulated 
losses. 

Management controls the capital of the Company in order to ensure that the Company can fund its 
operations on an efficient and timely basis and continue as a going concern. There are no externally 
imposed capital requirements. 

Management effectively manages the Company’s capital by assessing the Company’s cash 
projections up to twelve months in the future and any associated financial risks. Management will 
adjust the Company’s capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market.   

The Company has undertaken an on-market share buy-back program primarily as the Directors 
believe the shares were undervalued at the time of each share buy-back. As part of this program, 
during the year 9,907,052 (2011: 2,181,074) ordinary shares were bought back and cancelled at a 
total cost of approximately $32,900,959 (2011: $6,216,295).There have been no changes in the 
strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Company since the prior year. 
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19.  CONTROLLED ENTITIES     

Particulars in relation to controlled entities 
 Incorporated in Interest held % 
Name  2012 2011 
CuDeco Limited Australia   
    
Controlled Entities Consolidated    
Cloncurry Infrastructure Pty Ltd (formerly Mt Norma 
Copper Pty Ltd) Australia 100 100 
CuDeco Logistics Pty Ltd (incorporated on 9 September 
2011) Australia 100 n/a 
CuDeco Employee Share Plan Pty Ltd (incorporated 1 
December 2011) Australia 100 n/a 
Umatilla Resources Pty Ltd Australia n/a 75 
    

 
Umatilla Resources Pty Ltd has not operated during the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011 and had nil assets 
and liabilities at 30 June 2012 and 2011. During the year Umatilla Resources Pty Ltd was deregistered. 
 
 
20.  NOTES TO THE STATEMENT CASH FLOWS  
 2012 2011 
(a) Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash 
inflows/(outflows) from operating activities 

$ $ 

Profit (Loss) after income tax 776,899 (3,643,009) 
   
Add/(less) non-cash items   
 Share based payments 739,666 843,603 
 Loss on sale/ write off of assets 140,343 76,471 

Depreciation expense 130,854 73,611 
 Loss/(gain) on sale of available for sale financial assets - (85,567) 

Foreign exchange (gain) loss (1,309,505) 1,093,573 
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables (1,797,886) 413,323 
Increase / (decrease) in trade creditors and accruals (723,464) 413,654 
Increase / (decrease) in provisions 28,295 28,661 

Cash inflows / (outflows) from operations (2,014,698) (785,680) 

 
(b) Non-cash financing and investing activities 
 
Refer to note 16 for share based payment transactions. 

 
(c) Financing arrangements 
 
The Consolidated Entity does not have any credit or standby facilities. 
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21. COMMITMENTS 
 
Mineral Tenement Leases 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to mining tenements, the Consolidated Entity will be required to 
outlay amounts of approximately $2,570 per annum on an ongoing basis in respect of tenement lease rentals, 
rates and other costs of keeping tenure. The annual expenditure commitment is $10,000. These obligations are 
expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of operations by the Consolidated Entity. 

Native Title 
Under the Native Title Agreement concluded with the Mitakoodi and Mayi People, CuDeco Ltd is committed to 
making certain payments. These payments are conditional upon the grant of two mining licences within the 
Rocklands Project. The payments are: 
1) Annual administration payment of $15,000; 
2) $50,000 on commencement of production of minerals from the mining licence areas; and 
3) Annual payment of 0.25% of the value of minerals sold from the mining licence areas. 

Operating lease commitments – Consolidated Entity as Lessee 
The Consolidated Entity has entered into rental agreements for premises in Cloncurry and Southport. These 
leases have an average life of up to three years. One option of five (5) years is included in all current contracts. 
There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee in entering into these leases. 
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows: 

 2012 2011 
 $ $ 

Within one year 162,488 79,540 
After one year but not more than five years 244,577 - 
More than five years - - 

 407,065 79,540 

Mining Plant 
The Consolidated Entity entered into a contract for the design and supply of all of the Process Plant 
components and structures for its Rocklands Copper Project. The proposed 3 Million tonne per annum process 
plant will be fully computerized and automated and will include circuits for the native copper metal recovery, 
and flotation circuits for the supergene and primary sulphide zones. The total capital commitment for the 
acquisition of the processing plant is $US53 Million (approx. $50.6 Million), which includes $US4 Million 
(approx. $3.8 Million), of spare parts, capable spares for two years. Up to the end of the financial year the 
Consolidated Entity had paid approximately $30.7 Million (2010: $11.4 Million) and the balance is expected to 
be paid within 12 months of the end of the financial year. 
In addition to the basic design and supply of the plant, the company anticipates that it will be required to 
acquire additional alternative componentry for the process plant. In June 2012 the consolidated entity and the 
supply company agreed that in lieu of $13 Million cash for this additional alternative componentry, that the 
supply company would accept payment in shares in CuDeco Limited.  
The Consolidated Entity entered into a contract for the supply of the steel structure required as part of the 
processing plant. The total cost for the steel work is expected to be approximately $US13.3 Million and it is 
expected to be required within 12 months. 
The Consolidated Entity entered into a contract for the supply of a crushing plant. The total capital 
commitment for the acquisition of this plant is $10 Million. Up to the end of the financial year the Consolidated 
Entity had paid approximately $3.5 Million (2011: $nil) and the balance is expected to be paid within 12 
months of the end of the financial year.  
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22.  CONTINGENCIES 

There were no contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at 30 June 2012 other than a former employee of the 

Company has commenced legal action against the Company for an amount of approximately $340,000 being the 

alleged loss incurred by the employee as a result of the cancellation of options previously issued to him under the 

Company’s Employee Option Plan. The Company has received legal advice that it has no exposure to the claim 

and a defence to the action has been lodged.  No provision has been made in the financial statements in respect of 

this claim. 
 

23.   KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
The key management personnel compensation is as follows:  

 2012 2011 

 $ $ 

Short-term employee benefits 2,573,492 2,040,000 

Post-employment benefits 143,169 139,150 

Share-based payments 739,666 - 

Other long term benefits 25,359 25,883 

 3,482,019 2,205,033 
 

Shareholdings 
The numbers of Ordinary Shares in the Company held during the financial year by key management personnel, 
including shares held by related entities, are set out below. 

 

(1) appointed 6 June 2011                        (2) appointed 4 April 2012  (3) appointed 10 October 2011 

(4) appointed 20 February 2012                (5) appointed 9 January 2012             (6) resigned 30 June 2011 

 
# Net change other refers to shares purchased or sold during the financial year. 
 
As at 30 June 2012, there were no shares held nominally by key management personnel (2011: nil). 

  

Key management personnel 
Balance 

1 July 2011 
Received as 

Remunera-tion 
Options 

Exercised 
Net Change 

Other # 
Balance 

30 June 2012 
Wayne McCrae 10,017,444 - - 91,623 10,109,067 
Peter Hutchison 1,032,534 - - - 1,032,534 
Paul Keran 70,000 - - - 70,000 
Gerald Lambert 20,000 - - - 20,000 
David Taylor 32,000 - - - 32,000 
Zhijun Ma (1) - - - - - 
Hongwei Liu (2) n/a - - 23,000 23,000 
Noel Everon (3) n/a - - - - 
Ian Carroll (4) n/a - - - - 
Wade Freeman (5) n/a - - - - 

Key management personnel 
Balance 

1 July 2010 
Received as 

Remunera-tion 
Options 

Exercised 
Net Change 

Other # 
Balance 

30 June 2011 
Wayne McCrae 12,573,838 - - (2,556,394) 10,017,444 
Peter Hutchison 1,031,034 - - 1,500 1,032,534 
Paul Keran 70,000 - - - 70,000 
Gerald Lambert 5,000 - - 15,000 20,000 
David Taylor 32,000 - - - 32,000 
Zhijun Ma (1) n/a - - - - 
Ian Hunt (6) - - - - - 
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23.  KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (continued) 
 
Option holdings 
The numbers of options in the Company held during the financial year by key management personnel, including 
options held by their related entities, are set out below.  

     As at 30 June 2012 
Key 

management 
personnel 

Balance 
30 June 

2011 
Granted as 

remuneration Exercised Forfeited 
Total 

Options  
Options 

Unvested 
Total Vested and 

Exercisable 
W. McCrae - 250,000 - - 250,000 250,000 - 
P. Hutchison  2,500,000 250,000 - - 2,750,000 250,000 2,500,000 
P. Keran 100,000 100,000 - - 200,000 100,000 100,000 
G. Lambert  - 100,000 - - 100,000 100,000 - 
D. Taylor  100,000 100,000 - - 200,000 100,000 100,000 
Z. Ma (1) - - - - - - - 
H. Liu (2) - - - - - - - 
N. Everon (3) - - - - - - - 
I. Carroll (4) - - - - - - - 
W. Freeman (5) - - - - - - - 

 2,700,000 800,000 - - 3,500,000 800,000 2,700,000 
 

     As at 30 June 2011 

Key management 
personnel 

Balance 
30 June 

2011 

Granted as 
remuner-

ation 
Exer-
cised 

For- 
feited 

Total 
Options  

Options 
Un-

vested 

Total Vested 
and 

Exercisable 
W. McCrae - - - - - - - 
P. Hutchison  2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 
P. Keran 100,000 - - - 100,000 - 100,000 
G. Lambert  - - - - - - - 
D. Taylor  100,000 - - - 100,000 - 100,000 
Z. Ma (1) - - - - - - - 
I. Hunt (6) n/a 200,000 - 200,000 - - - 

 2,700,000 200,000 - 200,000 2,700,000 - 2,700,000 
(1) appointed 6 June 2011                 (2) appointed 4 April 2012                    (3) appointed 10 October 2011 
(4) appointed 20 February 2012  (5) appointed 9 January 2012 (6) resigned 30 June 2011 

During the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011 no new options were granted, no options were forfeited or 
expired and there were no other changes to the holdings of the key management personnel, other than: - 

a. the in-substance options as discussed in Note 16 and shown above as options granted as remuneration in 
the year ended 30 June 2012; and 

b. In September 2010 when 200,000 options exercisable at $2.50 each between 13 September 2011 and 13 
September 2013 were issued to A. Hunt. Subsequently A. Hunt left the employment of the Company at 30 
June 2011 and these options were forfeited as they had not vested. 

Transactions with Directors and Director-Related Entities 

A number of Directors of the Company, or their personally related entities, hold positions in other entities that 
result in them having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of these entities.  
The terms of the transactions with Directors and their personally related entities were no more favourable 
than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-
director related entities on an arm’s length basis, unless otherwise noted. 
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23.   KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (continued) 

The results for the year include the following expenses that resulted from transactions with Directors of the 
Company and their personally related entities. 

 2012 2011 
 $ $ 

1. Rents paid or payable to Mr McCrae and his director-related 

entities. 224,941 213,571 
2. Salary and on costs paid to Ms Deborah Holmes, partner of Mr 

Hutchison (Ms Deborah Holmes was employed as the 
Administration Manager of the Cloncurry office). 32,702 66,500 

3. Consulting fees paid to Mr G. Lambert’s director-related entity 7,800 - 
There were no balances due to Directors and Director Related Entities at period end. 

Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel 

In the 2012 financial year the Consolidated Entity: - 

a. acquired from a company associated with W. McCrae, an office complex situated in Cloncurry for $1.25 
Million. The purchase price was based on an independent valuation of the property and there was no amount 
owing at year end; 

b. acquired plant and equipment from a company associated with W. McCrae for $220,000. The purchase price 
was based on an independent valuation of the equipment and there was no amount owing at year end; and 

c. acquired land and buildings in Cloncurry from P. Hutchison for $450,000. The purchase price was based on 
an independent valuation of the property. All furniture and fittings on the property was also acquired for 
$24,000, being its assessed market value at the date of purchase and there was no amount owing at year 
end; 

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than 
those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Parent entity 
The parent entity and ultimate controlling entity is CuDeco Limited, which is incorporated in Australia.  
(b) Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 19. 
(c) Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in the Remuneration Report contained in the 
Directors’ Report and in Note 23 of the Financial Statements. 

25. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the 
board of Directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the allocation of 
resources. The Group is managed primarily on a geographic basis that is the location of the respective areas of 
interest (tenements) in Australia. Operating segments are determined on the basis of financial information reported 
to the Board which is at the consolidated entity level. The Group does not have any products/services it derives 
revenue from.  

Accordingly, management currently identifies the Group as having only one reportable segment, being 
exploration for copper, cobalt and gold. The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the financial 
statements of the Consolidated Entity as a whole. There have been no changes in the operating segment 
during the year.
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26. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 
 
Selected financial information of the parent company is as follows:- 
 
 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
Financial performance   
Profit / (loss) for the year 1,368,762 (3,643,009) 
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,368,762 (3,643,009) 
   

Financial position   
Current assets 129,799,467 103,772,065 
Total assets 271,178,476 191,511,253 
Current liabilities 3,113,596 3,868,750 
Total liabilities 3,696,463 4,097,779 
Contributed equity 311,312,946 232,613,169 
Accumulated losses (78,265,498) (79,634,260) 
Capital Realisation Reserve 95,113 95,113 
Capital Redemption Reserve    432,000    432,000 
Option Reserve 33,907,451   33,907,452 
Total equity 267,482,013 187,413,474 
 
Guarantees 
No guarantees have been entered into by the parent entity in relation to debts of its subsidiaries. 
 
Capital commitments 
Other than the capital commitments disclosed in Note 21 there were no other capital commitments entered into 
by the Company. 
 
Contingent liabilities 
Other than the contingent liabilities disclosed in Note 22 there were no other contingent liabilities entered into 
by the Company. 
 
27. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE 
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs 
of the consolidated entity, in future financial years, other than: 

1. The consolidated entity has provided an environmental rehabilitation guarantee to the Department of 
Natural Resources and Mines for $1,922,464, as a condition of its mining leases for the Rocklands 
Project. 

2. In September 2012, the consolidated entity and the Port of Townsville Limited, signed a Lease for 
1.506 ha of land at the Port of Townsville. The Lease formalises an option to lease CuDeco 
previously had over the land. The Lease allows construction and operation of a bulk materials 
receival, storage and export facility. 

3. In July, 2012, the Company signed a joint memorandum of understanding with Xstrata Copper and 

Minmetals Group, for the joint development of the Company’s Multi-user Rail Load-out Facility. The 

agreement highlights the Company’s foresight in recognising the need for enhanced regional 

infrastructure and taking the necessary steps to address the issue more than 12 months ago. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 

 

The Board of Directors of CuDeco Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company. The 
Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of CuDeco Limited on behalf of the shareholders by whom 
they are elected and to whom they are accountable. 

As the Company's activities develop in size, nature and scope, the size of the Board and the implementation of 
additional corporate governance structures will be given further consideration. 

The Company’s corporate governance practices were in place throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2012 
and were compliant, unless otherwise stated, with the ASX Corporate Governance Council (“CGC”)’s principles 
and recommendations, which are noted below. The Board as a whole is involved in matters where larger Boards 
would ordinarily operate through sub-committees. For these reasons, some of the best practices recommended 
by CGC are not cost effective for adoption in a smaller company environment. The Board sets out below its "if 
not, why not" report in relation to those matters of corporate governance where the Company's practices depart 
from the ASX Best Practice Recommendations (“Recommendations”). 

Principle 1. Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

Principle 2. Structure the board to add value 

Principle 3. Promote ethical and responsible decision making 

Principle 4. Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

Principle 5. Make timely and balanced disclosure 

Principle 6. Respect the rights of shareholders 

Principle 7. Recognise and manage risk 

Principle 8. Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

 

Principle 1 Lay Solid Foundations for Management and Oversight 

Principle 1 - Recommendation 1.1 

Notification of Departure: 

The Company did not comply with ASX Recommendation 1.1 as there was no formalisation and disclosure of 
separate functions between the Board and management during the reporting period. 

Explanation for Departure: 

The Board recognises the importance of distinguishing between the respective roles and responsibilities of the 
Board and senior executives. The Board has established an informal framework for the management of the 
Company and the roles and responsibilities of the Board and senior executives.   

The Board consisted of two executive directors and between four and five non-executive directors. The executive 
directors were a significant part of the management of the Company. As the Company progresses towards 
production, the management team will grow and the formalisation of their functions will enable the compliance 
with this Principle. 

The Board is responsible for the strategic direction of the Company, establishing goals for management and 
monitoring the achievement of these goals, monitoring the overall corporate governance of the Company, 
reviewing and monitoring risk and ensuring that shareholder value is increased.  

The appointment of non-executive directors is formalised in accordance with the regulatory requirements and the 
Company’s constitution. 
  



 

Page 100 
 
 

Corporate Governance Statement (Continued) 
 

 

Principle 1 - Recommendations 1.2 and 1.3 

Due to the small size of the Company the Board do not think that it is necessary to formally document the roles of 
the Board and management until such time as more senior executives are employed. The Board believes that these 
roles are being carried out in practice and are clearly understood by all members of the Board and will be clearly 
communicated to senior managers through their recruitment and their job descriptions. The Board considers that an 
informal review process is appropriate at this stage. 

Principle 2 Structure the Board to Add Value 

The Board’s primary role is the protection and enhancement of long-term shareholder value. The Board is 
responsible for setting the strategic direction and establishing the policies of the Company. It is responsible for 
overseeing the financial position, and for monitoring the business and affairs on behalf of the shareholders, by 
whom the Directors are elected and to whom they are accountable. The Board also addresses issues relating to 
internal controls and approaches to risk management. The Board is responsible for the overall Corporate 
Governance of the Company. 

The Board holds scheduled meetings at least once every two months, and strategy meetings at such other times as 
may be necessary to address any specific significant matters that may arise. 

The agenda for meetings is prepared in conjunction with the Chairman and all directors. Standing items include the 
executive directors’ report addressing progress on the Company’s projects and strategic matters, financial reports, 
strategic matters, governance and compliance. Submissions are circulated in advance. 

The names, qualifications and relative experience of the directors of the company in office at the date of this 
Statement are set out in the Directors’ Report. 

The composition of the Board is determined using the following principles: 

 the Board should comprise a minimum of three directors although this number has increased with the growth 
of the Company. In the future it may increase further where it is felt that additional expertise is required in 
specific areas, or when an outstanding candidate is identified 

 the Board should comprise a majority of non-executive directors 

 the Board should comprise directors with a broad range of expertise 

 directors appointed by the Board are subject to election by shareholders at the following annual general 
meeting and thereafter directors are subject to re-election at least every three years 

The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of 
expertise and experience. When a vacancy exists, through whatever cause, or where it is considered that the Board 
would benefit from the services of a new director with particular skills, a panel of candidates is selected with the 
appropriate expertise and experience. External advisers may be used to assist in such a process. The Board then 
appoints the most suitable candidate who must stand for election at the next general meeting of shareholders. 

The Financial Statements and the Directors Report disclose details of remuneration paid or payable (broken down 
by separate constituents of the remuneration package) to each of the directors and to key management personnel. 

  



 

Section 02                                                Page 101 

 

 

Corporate Governance Statement (Continued) 
 

 

The Chairman reviews the performance of all directors each year. Directors whose performance is 
unsatisfactory are asked to retire.  

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the Company’s constitution directors must keep the Board 
advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict with those of the company. Where 
the Board believes that a significant conflict exists, the director concerned does not receive the relevant board 
papers and is not present at the meeting whilst the item is considered. 

Each director has the right of access to all relevant company information and to the Company’s executives and, 
subject to prior consultation with the Chairman, may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense. A copy of advice received by the director is to be made available to all other members of the Board. 

Principle 2 - Recommendations 2.2 and 2.3 

Notification of departure: 

Mr McCrae, the executive chairman, is not independent in accordance with the test of independence as set out 
in the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. 

Explanation for departure: 

Mr McCrae’s has maintained the dual role as the Company’s CEO and Chairman. The Board believe that this 
arrangement is appropriate for the Company due to its small size and because Mr McCrae is the person best 
qualified to lead the Company’s management. The Board considers that the current composition of the Board is 
adequate for the Company's current size and operations, and includes an appropriate mix of skills and 
expertise, relevant to the Company's business.  The Company considers that each of the directors possess 
skills and experience suitable for building the Company.  

The Board has also since the end of the financial year appointed Mr Lambert as the Lead Independent Director 
to serve in a lead capacity to coordinate the activities of the other Independent Directors and to perform such 
other duties and responsibilities as the Board of Directors may determine. The Lead Independent Director 
when acting as such shall have the following specific responsibilities:  

 Provide the Chairman with input as to the preparation of the agendas for the Board of Directors' and 
Board Committee meetings;  

 Provide the Chairman with input as to the quality, quantity and timeliness of the information submitted 
by the Company’s management that is necessary or appropriate for the Independent Directors to 
effectively and responsibly perform their duties;  

 Assist the Board of Directors to improve its compliance with Corporate Governance Issues; 

 Serve as principal liaison between the Independent Directors and the Chairman on sensitive issues; 

 Make recommendations to the Board of Directors on behalf of the Independent Directors; and  

 Undertake such further responsibilities that the Independent Directors as a whole may designate to 
the Lead Independent Director from time to time. 
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Principle 2 - Recommendation 2.4 

Notification of Departure: 

A Nomination committee has not been formed. 

Explanation for Departure: 

The Board considers that the Company is not currently of a size, nor are its affairs of such complexity to justify the 
formation of separate or special committees at this time.   

The full Board considers those matters that would usually be the responsibility of a nomination committee and takes 
independent, specialist advice in the areas of nomination where warranted. The Board considers that, at this stage, 
no efficiencies or other benefits would be gained by establishing a separate nomination committee. Evaluating the 
Board and individual directors is on an informal basis at regular intervals until such time as the size of the Board 
warrants a formal process for implementation and key executives are employed. 

Principle 3 - Recommendation 3.1 

The Company has adopted a code of conduct that sets outs the principles and core values by which the Company 
expects to operate its business and interact with its stakeholders. The code stipulates that all personnel, including 
directors, officers, employees, contractors and consultants are to conduct themselves with the highest ethical 
standards, and to act with integrity and honesty, whilst striving at all times to enhance the reputation and 
performance of the company. The code specifically states: - 

a. Business dealings 

CuDeco will conduct business with honesty and integrity and in an ethical and professional way. The giving or 
receiving of unacceptable benefits such as bribes, facilitation payments, unethical inducements, secret 
commissions or secret profits is expressly forbidden. 

b. Compliance with Laws 

CuDeco will comply with all applicable rules, regulations and practices of each country in which it conducts its 
business. 

c.  Conflicts of Interests 

CuDeco personnel should at all times avoid placing themselves in situations or entering into arrangements 
involving actual or potential conflicts between their personal or private interests and those of the Company. 
They are required to disclose immediately to the Chairman or the Company Secretary any direct or indirect, 
actual or perceived conflict of interest.  

d. Use of Company Property 

At all times CuDeco personnel will respect confidential and proprietary information of the Company, and will not 
use or disclose such information to anyone except in the proper performance of their duties with the Company, 
unless the prior written consent of the Company is obtained or unless required by law to disclose the 
information. 

e.   Respect for Each Other and the Community  

CuDeco personnel will deal professionally, honestly and courteously with all parties. CuDeco is also committed 
to providing an equal employment opportunity work place. 
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Corporate Governance Statement (Continued) 
 

 

Any breach of this Code must be immediately reported to the Chairman, or any other Director of the Company. 
Any person who reports such matters in good faith can do so with the utmost confidence, without fear of 
victimisation, harassment or discrimination, and in the knowledge that such concerns will be properly received 
and investigated.  

This Code will be reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure it remains relevant to the Company’s business 
operations and its changing business requirements.  

A copy of this Code is available on the company’s website. 

Principle 3 - Recommendation 3.2 

Notification of Departure:  

The Company has not adopted a separate diversity policy with specific measurable objectives for achieving 
gender diversity. 

Explanation for Departure: 

Principle 4 – Safeguard the integrity in financial reporting 

The Company complies with this principle and recommendations. It has established an audit committee that 
consists of G Lambert (Chairman), P Keran and D Taylor. All members of the committee are independent non-
executive directors and details of their qualifications are included in the Directors Report. During the year the 
audit committee met on two occasions.  

The committee has a formal charter and a copy of this charter is available on the company’s website. 
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Principle 6 - Recommendation 6.1 

Notification of Departure:  

The Company has not established a formal shareholder communication strategy. 

Explanation for Departure: 

Even though a formal shareholder communication strategy has not been established the Board of Directors 
ensure that the shareholders are informed of all major developments affecting the Company. In addition to 
complying with the continuous disclosure rules of the ASX, information is communicated to the shareholders 
through: 

 The annual report which is distributed to shareholders either electronically or by post; 

 The half yearly financial report lodged with the ASX; 

 Advising shareholders of the key issues affecting the Company;  

 Posting all ASX announcements on the Company’s website; and 

 Conducting an Annual General Meeting each year that incorporates an address by the Chairman and/or 
the Executive Directors, and other meetings called to obtain shareholder approval for specific matters. 

The Company posts corporate information in the investor section of its Company website. The Company also 
has a facility for shareholders and investors to make enquiries via the Company website.  

The Company’s auditors are required to attend the Company’s AGM to answer any questions put to them by 
the shareholders. 

Principle 7 – Recognise and Manage risk 

The Company is committed to identifying, monitoring and managing risks associated with its business activities 
and has embedded in its management and reporting systems a number of risk management controls. The 
Board is ultimately responsible for overseeing the establishment and implementation of effective risk 
management systems and the monitoring of internal controls and compliance. The Company’s Audit 
Committee, is also responsible for reviewing and updating the Company’s risk profile, and monitoring the 
effectiveness of the risk management framework. 

The Board receives every six months a report from the external auditors regarding their procedures and 
reporting that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements comply with the 
Accounting Standards. 

The Chairman and the Company Secretary provide half yearly the declarations required by Section 295A of the 
Corporations Act and confirm that in their opinion the financial statements and accompanying notes comply 
with Accounting Standards and give a true and fair view and any other matters that are prescribed by the 
regulations for the purposes of this paragraph in relation to the financial statements and the notes for the 
financial year are satisfied. 

A copy of CuDeco’s risk management policy is available on the company’s website. 
  

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s1363.html#prescribed
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s1363.html#the_regulations
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s1363.html#the_regulations
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s9.html#financial_statements
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s9.html#financial_year


 

Section 02                                                Page 105 

 

 

Corporate Governance Statement (Continued) 
 

 

Principle 8 – Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly 

The remuneration committee consists of D Taylor (Chairman), P Keran and G Lambert. The committee met once 
during the financial year.  

A copy of the charter for the Remuneration Committee is available on the company’s website. 

Principle 8 - Recommendation 8.2 

Notification of Departure: 

Non-executive directors have received loan funded shares pursuant to an employee incentive plan as part of their 
remuneration. 

Explanation for Departure: 

Non-Executive Directors 

Non-Executive Directors receive fees which are determined by the Board within the aggregate limit set by the 
shareholders at a General Meeting. All Non-Executive Directors will receive remuneration by way of fees and 
receive no retirement benefits excluding statutory superannuation, if applicable. External professional advice will be 
sought to determine the level of Directors fees to ensure they are appropriate. The Board will determine the level of 
fees with reference to other comparable listed companies determined by size and nature of operations. Directors’ 
fees need to be set at a level to attract suitably qualified individuals to accept the responsibilities of a Directorship.  
Whilst the ASX Corporate Governance Council states otherwise, the Board considers the issue of shares or 
options to non-executive directors as an appropriate method of providing sufficient incentive and reward and 
attracting high calibre directors. 

All issues of shares or options to non-executive Directors have been approved by shareholders at a General 
Meeting.  

There was no scheme for retirement benefits, other than superannuation for the non-executive directors, in 
existence at any time during the year or subsequently. For details of remuneration paid to non-executive Directors 
and other key management personnel for the financial year please refer to the Remuneration Report included in 
the Directors’ Report in these Financial Statements. 
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Shareholder Information 
 

 
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 5 October 2012. 
 
On-market buy-back 
 
The Company completed a 12 month on-market buy-back programme on 31 May 2012 and subsequently approved 
a new on-market buy-back programme effective from 14 June 2012. To date the Company has not acquired any 
shares under the new programme. 
 
Substantial shareholders 
An extract of the Company’s register of substantial shareholders is set out below. 
 

Substantial Shareholder 
Number of 

Shares 
M&G Investment Funds (1), M&G Investment Management Limited, M&G Limited, M&G 
Group Limited, M&G Securities Limited, Prudential plc 33,891,470 
New Apex Asia Investment Limited 23,977,000 
Oceanwide International Resources Investment Co., Limited, China Oceanwide Holdings 
Group Co., Ltd, Oceanwide Group Co., Ltd, Oceanwide Holdings Co., Ltd, Zhiqlang Lu. 21,919,315 
Wayne McCrae, Kaldig Pty Ltd, C4 Shares Pty Ltd <C4 Share A/C>, McCrae Super Pty 
Ltd ATF McCrae Superannuation Fund, CuDeco Employee Shares Pty Ltd ATF W 
McCrae 10,370,906 
 
Distribution of equity security holders 
 

Size of Ordinary 
Holding Shares 

  
1 to 1,000 2,310 
1,001 to 5,000 2,369 
5,001 to 10,000 682 
10,001 to 100,000 869 
100,001 and over 119 

 6,349 

 
The number of shareholdings comprising less than a marketable parcel was 382. 
 
Mining tenements held at 5 October 2012 are as follows:- 

 
Project 

Tenement 
Reference 

Company 
Interest 

% 

   
Morris Creek EPM 18054 100 
Rocklands ML 90177 100 
 ML 90188 100 
 ML 90219 100 
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Unquoted Options 
 
Unquoted options on issue at 5 October 2012 were as follows: 
 
Number of 

Options 
Exercise 

Price Expiry Dates 
Number of 

Holders 
Names of Holders of 20% or more of 

each class of unquoted options 
2,700,000 $6.50 31 December 2012 3 Peter Hutchison – 2,500,000 

100,000 $4.50 22 February 2013 1 L. Pratt – 100,000 
225,000 $2.50 15 September 2013 4 K Erb – 100,000 

A Day – 75,000 
400,000 $2.50 15 September 2013 1 Mupo Zhu – 400,000 options 

 
 

Twenty Largest Shareholders as at 5 October 2012 
Number of 

Shares % Held 
   
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 46,236,976 24.55% 
New Appex Asia Investment Limited 23,977,000 12.73% 
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 18,735,316 9.95% 
National Nominees Limited 8,613,417 4.57% 
C4 Shares Pty Ltd 5,272,644 2.80% 
Camsport Pty Ltd 3,153,616 1.67% 
Gredeara Pty Limited 3,011,572 1.60% 
Mr Wayne McCrae 2,695,094 1.43% 
Cudeco Employee Share Plan Pty Ltd 2,572,477 1.37% 
Mr Hendericus and Mrs Noreen Van De Berg 2,500,000 1.32% 
McCrae Super Pty Ltd 2,263,476 1.20% 
Kaldig Pty Ltd 2,246,390 1.19% 
Calbee Nominees Pty Ltd 2,085,200 1.10% 
Mr Gregory Clyde & Mrs Diane Sue Campbell 1,565,941 0.83% 
Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 1,188,573 0.63% 
Mr Robert Malcolm Campbell & Mrs Maria Paulina Josepha Campbell 1,062,000 0.56% 
Mrs Smiti Shah 948,572 0.50% 
Heskey Holdings Pty Ltd 750,000 0.40% 
Oregon Research Pty Ltd 687,000 0.37% 
R Cordina & Son Pty Ltd 655,793 0.35% 

 130,221,057 69.12% 
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Competent Person Statement 
 
The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results is based on information compiled by Mr Andrew Day. Mr Day 
is employed by GeoDay Pty Ltd, an entity engaged, by CuDeco Ltd to provide independent consulting services.  Mr Day has 
a BAppSc (Hons) in geology and he is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (Member #303598).  
Mr Day has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposits under consideration and 
to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the “Australasian 
Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ores Reserves”.  Mr Day consents to the inclusion in this 
report of the information in the form and context in which it appears. 
 
The information in this report insofar as it relates to Metallurgical Test Results and Recoveries, is based on information 
compiled by Mr Peter Hutchison, MRACI Ch Chem, MAusIMM, a full-time executive director of CuDeco Ltd.  Mr Hutchison 
has sufficient experience in hydrometallurgical and metallurgical techniques which are relevant to the results under 
consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person for the purposes of this report.  Mr 
Hutchison consents to the inclusion in this report of the information, in the form and context in which it appears. 
 
Rocklands Resource 
 
References to the Rocklands Resource, and/or Rocklands Resource Estimate, have been sourced from the Company’s 
Resource Estimate Report 2011 released via the ASX on the 25th May 2011 which is based on work undertaken by Mr 
Andrew J. Vigar, who is an employee of Mining Associates Pty and a Fellow of The Australasian Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy, and qualifies as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves‟ (JORC Code).  Pursuant to the requirements of ASX Listing Rule 
5.6 and clause 8 of the JORC Code, Mr Vigar included with that Report a Written Consent Statement verifying that the Report 
fairly and accurately reflected the information in the supporting documentation relating to Mineral Resources. A detailed 
description of the resource estimation methodology is included in the above mentioned Report, completed by Mining 
Associates Pty. Ltd. and released to ASX on 25th May 2011.  
 
Rocklands style mineralisation  
 
Dominated by dilational brecciated shear zones, throughout varying rock types, hosting coarse splashy to massive primary 
mineralisation, high-grade supergene chalcocite enrichment and bonanza-grade coarse native copper. Structures hosting 
mineralisation are sub-parallel, east-south-east striking, and dip steeply within metamorphosed volcano-sedimentary rocks of 
the eastern fold belt of the Mt Isa Inlier. The observed mineralisation, and alteration, exhibit affinities with Iron Oxide-Copper-
Gold (IOCG) classification. Polymetallic copper-cobalt-gold mineralisation, and significant magnetite, persists from the 
surface, through the oxidation profile, and remains open at depth.  
 
Wilgar style mineralisation 
 
Polymetallic and rare element hosting prospect, which includes mineralisation of Au, Mo, Ag, Te, ±U. The high-grade gold, 
silver and tellurium may be present as tellurides and mineralisation may be related to an IRGS (Intrusion-Related Gold 
System). 
 
Solsbury style mineralisation 
 
Brecciated and vein-hosted, throughout varying rock types, hosting coarse splashy primary mineralization with supergene 
bornite and native copper. Polymetallic copper-gold mineralisation persists throughout the oxidation profile and remains open 
at depth.  
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Notes on Assay Results 
 

All analyses are carried out at internationally recognised, independent, assay 
laboratories. Quality Assurance (QA) for the analyses is provided by continual 
analysis of known standards, blanks and duplicate samples as well as the internal QA 
procedures of the respective independent laboratories. 
 
Reported intersections are down-hole widths. 

 
Au = Gold 
Ag = Silver 
Te = Tellurium 
Mo = Molybdenum 
Pb  = Lead 
Cu  = Copper 
Co  = Cobalt 
U = Uranium 
Se  = Selenium 
Zn  = Zinc 
CuEq = Copper Equivalent 
AuEq = Gold Equivalent 
 
Results may vary from previous announcements due to changes in the Copper and Gold Equivalent calculations.  
Results reported in this report are calculated by the following calculations: 
 
Gold (Au) Equivalent Calculation (AuEq) 
 
The formula is based on metal prices of; 
 
Gold  $1200.00 USD/ounce (80% recovery) 
 
Silver  $30.00 USD/ounce (80% recovery) 
 
Tellurium $300.00 USD/kg (70% recovery) 
 
Molybdenum $25.00 USD/lb (80% recovery) 
 
U3O8   $45.00 USD/lb (85% recovery) 
 
AuEq = Au ppm x 0.80 + Ag ppm x 0.020 + Te ppm x 0.005443 + Mo ppm x 0.001143 + U ppm x 0.002577  
 
Wilgar drill intersections reported have been calculated on the basis of a gold cut-off grade of 0.4g/t AuEq 
with 3m allowance for internal waste. 
 
Gold is the most economically important metal present at the Wilgar prospect. The Company believes is 
it appropriate to represent the value of the unique suite of additional metals also found at Wilgar, as a 
single, easy to understand, gold-equivalent grade (AuEq). 
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AuEq results are calculated to 2 decimal places and reported in mineralised intercepts to 3 significant figures. Uranium 
results are converted to U3O8 for calculation purposes; Uranium (ppm) results are multiplied by a conversion factor of 1.1792 
to account for the oxide form of the uranium compound. 
 
The recoveries used above in the AuEq calculation are based on the mineralogical analysis of the metals in this deposit and 
possible extraction methods. It is the Company’s opinion that all the elements that form part of the Gold-equivalent (AuEq) 
calculation have a reasonable potential to be recovered. 
 
Copper Equivalent (CuEq) Calculation  
 
The formula for calculation of copper equivalent is based on the following metal prices and metallurgical recoveries:  
 
Copper: $2.00 US$/lb; Recovery: 95.00%  
 
Cobalt: $26.00 US$/lb; Recovery: 90.00%  
 
Gold: $900.00 US$/troy ounce Recovery: 75.00%  
 
CuEq = Cu(%) x 0.95 + Co(ppm) x 0.00117 + Au(ppm) x 0.49219 
 
In order to be consistent with previous reporting, the drill intersections reported above have been calculated on the basis o f 
copper cut-off grade of 0.2% Cu, or a copper equivalent grade of 0.35%, with an allowance of up to 4m of internal waste. 
 
The recoveries used in the calculations are the average achieved to date in the metallurgical test-work on primary sulphide, 
supergene, oxide and native copper zones.  
 
The Company’s opinion is that all of the elements included in the copper equivalent calculation have a reasonable potential to 
be recovered.  
 
Disclaimer and Forward-looking Statements  
 
This report contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risk factors associated with resources businesses.  It is 
believed that the expectations reflected in these statements are reasonable, but they may be affected by a variety of 
variables and changes in underlying assumptions which could cause actual results or trends to differ materially, including, but 
not limited to: price fluctuations, actual demand, currency fluctuations, drilling and production results, reserve estimates, loss 
of market, industry competition, environmental risks, physical risks, legislative, fiscal and regulatory developments, economic 
and financial market conditions in various countries and regions, political risks, project delays or advancements, approvals 
and cost estimates. 
 
Assay Tables: 
 

Copper, cobalt, gold & copper equivalent (CuEq) results; 

DODH243   Width   Cu Eq Cu % Co ppm Au g/t From   To 

Intersection 1 211m @ 1.90% 0.95% 801 0.12 23m - 234m 

including   21m @ 3.68% 2.60% 897 0.33 35m - 56m 

and   12m @ 3.70% 2.56% 983 0.29 73m - 85m 

and   7m @ 4.10% 2.72% 1140 0.37 94m - 101m 

and   14m @ 3.89% 2.41% 1260 0.26 109m - 123m 
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Gold, silver, tellurium, uranium, molybdenum and gold equivalent (AuEq) results; 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

DODH255   Width   Cu Eq Cu % Co ppm Au g/t From   To 

Intersection 1 6m @ 3.62% 3.45% 137 0.37 142m - 148m 

Including   4m @ 5.20% 4.98% 184 0.51 143m - 147m 

Intersection 2 18m @ 0.54% 0.45% 56 0.11 222m - 240m 

Intersection 3 4m @ 0.63% 0.41% 184 0.05 252m - 256m 

Intersection 4 6m @ 0.51% 0.38% 68 0.14 314m - 320m 

           

DODH320   Width   Cu Eq Cu % Co ppm Au g/t From   To 

Intersection 1 23m @ 4.19% 1.50% 2270 0.22 48m - 71m 

including   7m @ 6.54% 4.32% 1840 0.58 61m - 68m 

           

DODH443   Width   Cu Eq Cu % Co ppm Au g/t From   To 

Intersection 1 25m @ 3.96% 2.56% 1140 0.39 71m - 96m 

including   18m @ 5.31% 3.42% 1540 0.53 71m - 89m 

including   5m @ 7.78% 5.47% 1670 1.29 76m - 81m 

           

DODH445   Width   Cu Eq Cu % Co ppm Au g/t From   To 

Intersection 1 21m @ 2.42% 1.60% 696 0.19 73m - 94m 

including   11m @ 4.09% 2.67% 1200 0.32 74m - 85m 

           

DODH446   Width   Cu Eq Cu % Co ppm Au g/t From   To 

Intersection 1 21m @ 4.41% 3.09% 1160  0.25 66m - 87m 

including   17m @ 5.28% 3.71% 1370  0.31 67m - 84m 

including   10m @ 7.24% 4.98% 1980  0.39 67m - 77m 

cut-off grade of 0.2% Cu, or a copper equivalent grade of 0.35%, with an allow-

ance of up to 4m of internal waste 

DODH248   Width   AuEq g/t Au g/t Ag g/t Te ppm U ppm Mo ppm From   To 

Intersection 1 17m @ 39.8 43.4 40.2 356 894 1.65 3m - 20m 

including   9m @ 70.0 79.9 51.8 652 559 0.67 5m - 14m 
             

DODH258   Width   AuEq g/t Au g/t Ag g/t Te ppm U ppm Mo ppm From   To 

Intersection 1 19m @ 7.66 4.46 45.7 147 925 0.58 4m - 23m 

including   9m @ 13.8 8.30 76.9 270 1590 1.22 10m - 19m 
                          

DODH261   Width   AuEq g/t Au g/t Ag g/t Te ppm U ppm Mo ppm From   To 

Intersection 1 18m @ 14.7 9.68 99.3 236 1444 5.22 5m - 23m 

including   6m @ 29.7 23.6 244 250 1760 5.67 10m - 16m 

 

gold cut-off grade of 0.4g/t AuEq with 3m allowance for internal waste 
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 DODH264   Width   AuEq Au g/t Ag g/t Te ppm U ppm Mo ppm From   To 

Intersection 1 23m @ 56.2 50.1 101 144 813 0.91 1m - 24m 

including   6m @ 197 185 196 415 1245 0 7m - 13m 

and   1m @ 1130 1090 800 2190 2170 0 7m - 8m 

             

DODH285   Width   AuEq g/t Au g/t Ag g/t Te ppm U ppm Mo ppm From   To 

Intersection 1 42m @ 4.23 1.65 110 60.7 57.8 191 0m - 42m 

including   14m @ 9.03 3.79 238 145 82.9 208 4m - 18m 

                          

DODH286   Width   AuEq g/t Au g/t Ag g/t Te ppm U ppm Mo ppm From   To 

Intersection 1 37m @ 5.80 2.9 101 83.2 122 599 0m - 37m 

including   4m @ 18.4 17.0 163 204 142 10.3 2m - 6m 

and   9m @ 9.34 2.76 256 194 244 288 11m - 20m 

Intersection 2 4m @ 1.26 0.31 26.1 16.1 52.9 240 42m - 46m 

                          

DODH287   Width   AuEq g/t Au g/t Ag g/t Te ppm U ppm Mo ppm From   To 

Intersection 1 31m @ 4.84 3.36 76.3 71.9 71.7 102 0m - 31m 

including   13m @ 8.15 6.80 101 113 59.5 68.2 2m - 15m 

Intersection 2 4m @ 3.85 0.82 138 61.7 8.52 63.8 40m - 44m 

                          

DODH288   Width   AuEq g/t Au g/t Ag g/t Te ppm U ppm Mo ppm From   To 

Intersection 1 27m @ 5.53 2.58 124 110 48.8 217 0m - 27m 

including   8m @ 13.0 6.20 290 236 61.9 686 7m - 15m 

             

DODH290   Width   AuEq g/t Au g/t Ag g/t Te ppm U ppm Mo ppm From   To 

Intersection 1 31m @ 4.91 2.39 98.5 74 43 449 0m - 31m 

including   9m @ 5.44 4.00 82.6 82.1 36.2 15.2 0m - 9m 

and   4m @ 15.1 6.91 386 247 128 147 16m - 20m 

                          

DODH310   Width   AuEq g/t Au g/t Ag g/t Te ppm U ppm Mo ppm From   To 

Intersection 1 16m @ 9.20 3.53 180 161 26 1590 2m - 18m 

including   3m @ 39.7 14.8 733 673 88.8 8110 6m - 9m 

DODH330   Width   AuEq g/t Au g/t Ag g/t Te ppm U ppm Mo ppm From   To 

Intersection 1 14m @ 57.1 62.0 117 350 1270 0 17m - 31m 

including   11m @ 72.3 78.7 142 440 1610 0 17m - 28m 

including   3m @ 207 237 378 1190 1260 0 18m - 21m 

gold cut-off grade of 0.4g/t AuEq with 3m allowance for internal waste 
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JORC Resource Statement  
 
The resources for the Rocklands area at May 2011 have been estimated and 
are tabulated below at various cut-off grades. The tables need to be read in 
conjunction with the notes following.  

Measured Resource Estimate May 2011 at various cut-off grades 

cut-off Tonnes Estimated Grade Copper Equivalent Contained Metal, 

CuCoAu   Cu Co Au Mag CuCoAu CuEq Cu CuCoAu CuEq 

% Mt % ppm ppm % % % Mlb Mlb Mlb 

0.2 47.2 0.41 353 0.1 2.9 0.89 1 425 929 1,037 

0.4 34.6 0.54 407 0.11 3 1.1 1.2 410 838 918 

0.8 13.8 1.1 597 0.19 3.5 1.93 2.06 335 589 628 

Indicated Resource Estimate May 2011 at various cut-off grades 

cut-off Tonnes Estimated Grade Copper Equivalent Contained Metal, 

CuCoAu   Cu Co Au Mag CuCoAu CuEq Cu CuCoAu CuEq 

% Mt % ppm ppm % % % Mlb Mlb Mlb 

0.2 121.9 0.19 241 0.08 3.1 0.53 0.64 505 1,417 1,712 

0.4 63.3 0.32 291 0.11 2.7 0.74 0.83 448 1,026 1,161 

0.8 16.4 0.81 367 0.19 1.3 1.36 1.4 293 491 508 

Total Measured and Indicated Resource Estimate May 2011 at various cut-off grades 

cut-off Tonnes Estimated Grade Copper Equivalent Contained Metal, 

CuCoAu   Cu Co Au Mag CuCoAu CuEq Cu CuCoAu CuEq 

% Mt % ppm ppm % % % Mlb Mlb Mlb 

0.2 169.2 0.25 273 0.09 3.1 0.63 0.74 930 2,347 2,750 

0.4 97.9 0.4 332 0.11 2.8 0.86 0.96 858 1,864 2,080 

0.8 30.3 0.94 472 0.19 2.3 1.62 1.7 627 1,081 1,136 

Inferred Resource Estimate May 2011 at various cut-off grades 

cut-off Tonnes Estimated Grade Copper Equivalent   

CuCoAu   Cu Co Au Mag CuCoAu CuEq   CuCoAu CuEq 

% Mt % ppm ppm % % %   Mlb Mlb 

0.2 103.7 0.06 167 0.1 2.9 0.32 0.42   724 957 

0.4 20.6 0.17 269 0.08 2.1 0.55 0.62   248 282 

0.8 1.1 0.8 281 0.13 1.1 1.22 1.25   29 29 

Total Measured Indicated and Inferred Resource Estimate May 2011 at various cut-off grades 

cut-off Tonnes Estimated Grade Copper Equivalent   

CuCoAu   Cu Co Au Mag CuCoAu CuEq   CuCoAu CuEq 

% Mt % ppm ppm % % %   Mlb Mlb 

0.2 272.9 0.18 233 0.09 3 0.51 0.62   3,070 3,704 

0.4 118.5 0.36 321 0.11 2.7 0.81 0.9   2,112 2,361 

0.8 31.4 0.94 465 0.19 2.3 1.61 1.69   1,109 1,165 
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Notes to accompany the Resource Estimate:  

The Rocklands tenements are owned 100% by CuDeco Limited (ASX:CDU). 

The mineral resource estimate is based on all 3,793 drill holes (306,671.2m) including 305 diamond drill holes (69,521.0m) 

and 1,458 RC drillholes (225,207.5m). 

Mining Associates (MA) conducted a review of the data and sample collection of the historic drilling. 

MA has reviewed the EAM Procedures and visited site on 4 occasions during the course of the current Drill Programme. 

The geological resource is constrained by domains consisting of 3D models.  The mineralised domains were digitised on 
cross sections defining boundaries for High-grade Cu as >0.5%Cu, Low-grade Cu as >0.1% Cu and Cobalt as >100ppm Co. 

The domains are nested. There are a total of 36 currently defined domains. 

Drill intercepts within each lode are flagged in a database table and composited for each assay element separately to 2m 
downhole giving 39,157 informing two metre composites for Cu in the domained areas and 20,780 in the undomained from 

drillholes. 

A grade cap was applied to informing composites to remove outliers.  Cu grades were capped at 23%, Co grades at 

5,000ppm, Au grades at 10ppm and Magnetite% at 44%. 

Density was determined on 3,002 samples throughout the ore body using the immersion method. Bulk density is related to 
the oxidation state of the rock and extent of mineralisation.  The geologists have logged three oxidation states between totally 
oxidised to un-oxidised fresh rock. The oxidation states of each block were defined by wireframes based on sectional 

interpretation.  Density was assigned based on the weathering profile and copper and magnetite grades. 

Block model parent block size selection of XYZ 50 x 8x 20m was chosen The estimation block size was varied by resource 
category down to the sub-block size of 12.5 m (E) by 2 m (N) by 5 m (RL) was used against all wireframes for volumes. The 

model was screened for topography by block. 

Grade was interpolated into a constrained block model in 3D space by domain using Ordinary Krige estimation with 
parameters based on directional variography by domain.  Estimates were validated against informing samples and with 

nearest neighbour and inverse distance squared. The block model was also checked against recent CuDeco Drilling. 

Informing samples were composited to 2 m within domains and 10 m in undomained areas.  A minimum of 10 composites for 

both a maximum of 20 samples for domained and 10 samples for undomained. 

Resources have been classified as Measured, Indicated and Inferred for the domained areas based on the number of 

informing samples, average distance and the kriging variance for each block. All undomained blocks are classed as Inferred. 

Lower cutoff grade of 0.2% CuCoAu and only blocks above -250m RL were applied to blocks in reporting the resource 
estimates in a range of cut-off grades. Magnetite has not been included in the cut-off grade as it is not directly related to the 

mineralisation, but will be produced as a by-product so is included in the final Block Model report and estimates. 

Copper equivalents have been calculated assuming average metal prices and recoveries. A copper price of USD2/lb and 
recovery of 95%; a cobalt price of USD26/lb and recovery of 90%; a gold price of USD900/oz and recovery of 75% and a 
magnetite price of $US185/t. The CuCoAu for selection of cut-off grades does not include the magnetite, but it is included for 
calculation of final metal equivalents, as follows. It is the company's opinion that all the elements included in the metal 

equivalents calculation have a reasonable potential to be recovered. 

CuCoAu% = cu_perc_krig + co_ppm_krig*0.001232 + au_ppm_krig*0.518238 

CuEq% = cu_perc_krig + co_ppm_krig*0.001232 + au_ppm_krig*0.518238 + mag_perc*0.035342 
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Reported Tonnage and grade figures have been rounded off to the 
appropriate number of significant figures to reflect the order of accuracy of 
an inferred estimate. . Minor variations may occur during the addition of 

rounded numbers. 

 
 

Hole Location Table: 

Hole ID Easting Northing RL Azi Dip Hole 

      (m) (°) (°) Depth (m) 

DODH240 432257.6 7715695.9 240.4 000 -90 38.6 

DODH242 433489.6 7716157.8 220.7 030 -32 181.6 

DODH243 433607.4 7713816.2 216.6 210 -77 242.7 

DODH248 432260.0 7715697.2 240.5 000 -90 41.6 

DODH255 433642.2 7713892.2 214.5 030 -55 359.6 

DODH258 432259.2 7715693.3 240.5 000 -90 41.5 

DODH261 432259.6 7715695.2 240.5 000 -90 41.6 

DODH262 432261.4 7715694.6 240.5 000 -90 35.6 

DODH264 432262.0 7715696.5 240.5 000 -90 41.6 

DODH285 432280.6 7715684.4 237.4 000 -90 50.5 

DODH286 432278.9 7715684.5 237.4 000 -90 50.5 

DODH287 432276.8 7715684.5 237.4 000 -90 50.0 

DODH288 432274.8 7715684.7 237.4 000 -90 111.9 

DODH290 432283.2 7715681.8 237.4 000 -90 50.5 

DODH310 432293.1 7715681.8 237.1 000 -90 50.5 

DODH320 433493.5 7716187.8 219.4 030 -45 125.5 

DODH330 432269.8 7715710.3 243.7 210 -40 40.9 

DODH392 431931.9 7715965.5 224.2 030 -55 308.4 

DODH443 433495 7716237 217 090 -50 179 

DODH445 433495 7716237 217 090 -45 161 

DODH446 433495 7716237 217 095 -45 119 

LMRC776 431867.1 7715958.7 224.2 030 -55 186 

Datum: AGD66 Project: UTM54 surveyed with Differential GPS (1 decimal place, 10cm accuracy) and/

or handheld GPS (no decimal places, 4m accuracy).  
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